CENTRAL LIMIT THEOREM FOR A SPATIAL STOCHASTIC EPIDEMIC MODEL WITH MEAN FIELD INTERACTION

M. HAURAY, E. PARDOUX, Y. V. VUONG

ABSTRACT. In this article, we study an interacting particle system in the context of epidemiology where the individuals (particles) are characterized by their position and infection state. We begin with a description at the microscopic level where the displacement of individuals is driven by mean field interactions and state-dependent diffusion, whereas the epidemiological dynamic is described by the Poisson processes with an infection rate based on the distribution of other nearby individuals, also of the mean-field type. Then under suitable assumptions, a form of law of large numbers has been established to show that the associated empirical measure to the above system converges to the law of the unique solution of a nonlinear McKean-Vlasov equation. As a natural follow-up question, we study the fluctuation of this stochastic system around its limit. We prove that this fluctuation process converges to a limit process, which can be characterized as the unique solution of a linear stochastic PDE. Unlike the existing literature using a coupling approach to prove the central limit theorem for interacting particle systems, the key idea in the proof is to use the semigroup language and some appropriate estimates to directly study the linearized evolution equation of the fluctuation process in a suitable weighted Sobolev space, and follows a Hilbertian approach.

Contents

1. Introduction	1
2. Preliminaries and main result	6
2.1. Preliminaries on weighted Sobolev spaces	6
2.2. Main results	7
3. Tightness	9
3.1. Preliminary estimates	9
3.2. Decomposition of the fluctuations	10
3.3. Main estimates in dual spaces	13
3.4. Tightness results	16
3.5. Proof of Proposition 3.9	19
4. Characterization of the limit	23
4.1. Convergence of $(\tilde{M}^{S,N}, \tilde{M}^{I,N}, \tilde{M}^{R,N})_{N \ge 1}$	24
4.2. Convergence of $(\eta^{S,N}, \eta^{I,N}, \eta^{R,N})_{N>1}$	25
5. Appendix	28
References	28

1. INTRODUCTION

In this article, we study a spatial stochastic epidemic model based on the well-known SIR model, where S, I and R respectively stands for the different states of an individual. These states can vary from the compartment of Susceptible to the Infected one, and eventually to

the compartment of Recovered (Removed) when the individual recovers from the illness (or died). In fact, for many problems related to the spread of infectious disease in ecology and public health, an explicit description of spatial structure is not necessary nor advantageous. In many cases, the concept of average behavior in a large population is sufficient enough to provide the insights and extract useful information from existing data. However, the spatial component of many transmission systems is becoming increasingly important [34]. Recent studies in both deterministic and stochastic epidemic models have enabled us to understand the significance of individual displacements in a population on the persistence or extinction of an endemic disease [5, 6, 12, 28].

In our spatial model, an individual will be characterized by two features: its position and its infection state. The state E varies in one of the types $\{S, I, R\} = \{0, 1, 2\}$, where we identify S with 0, I with 1 and R with 2 in order to simplify the mathematical description. It is also useful for the representation of the jumps between the states in the epidemic dynamic. Meanwhile, the position is a continuous variable $X \in \mathbb{R}^d$. The addition of spatial variables complicates the standard homogeneous SIR model in two ways: by using an infection rate that depends on the distribution of surrounding population and by taking into account the individual displacements.

In fact, it is a natural tendency that an infected individual will infect a close neighbor more often than another distant individual. While these different transmission behaviors are averaged in a homogeneous SIR model, in our model, we use an infection rate depending on the relative distance between individuals. The infection rate between locations $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ will be given by a function $K : \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}_+$, which is assumed to be bounded and Lipschitz. Averaging over all the infected individuals, the susceptible individual *i* becomes infected (in other words its state jumps from 0 to 1) at time *t* at the rate

$$\frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} K(X_t^{i,N}, X_t^{j,N}) \mathbb{1}_{\{E_t^{i,N} = S\}} \mathbb{1}_{\{E_t^{j,N} = I\}}.$$
(1.1)

The infectious individuals recover (in other words their state jumps from 1 to 2) at rate $\gamma > 0$ and once an individual recovers, it becomes immune.

Each individual moves in \mathbb{R}^d according to a diffusion $\sigma(X_t^{i,N}, E_t^{i,N}) dB_t^i$ which depends on both individual's state and position, and weakly interact with the other individuals in the population in the mean filed type through a kernel V. In this paper, the interaction kernel V, the diffusion strength σ are assumed to be bounded Lipschitz continuous with respect to the position variables. Of course, this equation has a meaning on a probability space endowed with the requested Brownian motions (and Poisson point processes for the infectious-jump part of the dynamic). The Lipschitz hypothesis will be very useful to build a correct theory of existence, uniqueness to that system, and also for our results concerning the large population limit (i.e. when N goes to infinity).

In light of the aforementioned settings, the epidemiological dynamic can be represented using Poisson point processes jumping in $\{0, 1, 2\}$. Now we choose a probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}, \mathbb{P})$ equipped with N independent Poisson random measures $(\mathcal{Q}^i)_{i=1,...,N}$ and N Brownian motions $(B^i)_{i=1,...,N}$, the position and state of the individuals will evolve in time according to the following system:

$$\begin{cases} dX_{t}^{i,N} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} V(X_{t}^{i,N}, E_{t}^{i,N}, X_{t}^{j,N}, E_{t}^{j,N}) dt + \sigma(X_{t}^{i,N}, E_{t}^{i,N}) dB_{t}^{i}, \\ E_{t}^{i,N} = E_{0}^{i,N} + \int_{[0,t] \times \mathbb{R}_{+}} \mathbb{1}_{\left\{ u \le \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j \ne i} K\left(X_{s}^{i,N}, X_{s}^{j,N}\right) \mathbb{1}_{\left(E_{s}^{i,N}, E_{s}^{j,N}\right) = (0,1)} + \gamma \mathbb{1}_{1}\left(E_{s}^{i,N}\right) \right\}} \mathcal{Q}^{i}(ds, du). \end{cases}$$

$$(1.2)$$

For more details concerning the origin of this model and its interest, we refer readers to the previous paper of the authors [18].

In the study of a system composed of N particles, one of the most important objects is empirical measure that can help us fully describe the whole dynamic. In this paper, let us introduce the empirical measure process associated to the above system consisting of Nindividuals $(X_t^{i,N}, E_t^{\hat{i},N}), i = 1, \dots, N$ defined by

$$t\mapsto \mu_t^N=\frac{1}{N}\sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{(X_t^{i,N},E_t^{i,N})},$$

where $\delta_{(x,e)}$ is the Dirac measure at point $(x,e) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \{0,1,2\}$. Under suitable assumptions in [18], we established a conditional propagation of chaos result (in the presence of a common noise $\sigma^0(X_t^{i,N}, E_t^{i,N})dB_t^0)$, which states that conditionally to the common noise, the individuals are asymptotically independent and the stochastic dynamic converges to a random nonlinear McKean-Vlasov process when the population size tends to infinity. And as a consequence, the associated empirical measure converges to the unique solution of a stochastic mean-field PDE driven by the common noise.

In this work, we only treat the case without the common noise. As a special case of the results obtained in [18] (with $\sigma^0 = 0$), we can also show that when $N \to \infty$, the empirical measure μ_t^N converges to μ_t the law of the unique solution to the following nonlinear McKean-Vlasov equation

$$\begin{cases} dX_t = V_{\mu_t}(X_t, E_t)dt + \sigma(X_t, E_t)dB_t, \\ E_t = E_0 + \int_{[0,t] \times \mathbb{R}_+} \mathbb{1}_{\left\{ u \le K_{\mu_s}(X_s) \mathbb{1}_0(E_{s^-}) + \gamma \mathbb{1}_1(E_{s^-}) \right\}} \mathcal{Q}(ds, du), \\ \mu_t = \mathcal{L}\left(X_t, E_t\right). \end{cases}$$
(1.3)

As typical with McKean-Vlasov dynamics, the limit measure μ_t can also be characterized as the unique solution of a nonlinear partial differential equation. That PDE is called the forward Kolmogorov equation associated to the McKean-Vlasov SDE (1.3) and given by the following equation

$$d\mu_t = -D_x \cdot (V_{\mu_t}\mu_t) dt + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left[\nabla^2_{xx} ((\sigma\sigma^T)\mu_t) \right] dt + K_{\mu_t} (\mathbb{1}_{e=1} - \mathbb{1}_{e=0}) \mu_t (dx, 0) dt + \gamma (\mathbb{1}_{e=2} - \mathbb{1}_{e=1}) \mu_t (dx, 1) dt.$$
(1.4)

Now, as a natural follow-up question after studying the law of large numbers, the aim of this paper is to look for a limit theorem for the fluctuation process of μ_t^N around its limit μ_t . In the previous paper, a quantitative law of large numbers is established in Wasserstein

distance, which roughly shows that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[W_1\left(\mu_t^N, \mu_t\right)\right] \le C \begin{cases} N^{-1/2}, & d = 1, \\ N^{-1/2} \log N, & d = 2, \\ N^{-1/d}, & d \ge 3. \end{cases}$$
(1.5)

In light of the above estimate obtained on the rate of convergence, we consider the following fluctuation process with the $N^{1/2}$ scaling:

$$\eta_t^N = \sqrt{N} \big(\mu_t^N - \mu_t \big), \quad t \in [0, T]$$

Following the Hilbertian approach used in [15,23,29], we can prove a central limit theorem for the sequence of the fluctuation processes $(\eta^N)_{N\geq 1}$ in an appropriate space of distributions. The limit process of the normalized fluctuation processes can be described as the unique solution a linear stochastic partial differential equation driven by space-time white noises. In order to achieve this, we regard the fluctuation process η_t^N as a process taking values in a Hilbert space, which we consider as the dual of some Sobolev space of test functions. The regularity of that dual space corresponding to the regularity of the test functions will be decided by the martingale term appearing in the mean field limit as well as the form of generators in the equation.

It is worth noting that the Sobolev space used in the present paper is not the classical one and must be refined. Indeed, it is well-known that the 1-Wasserstein distance used in (1.5) is equivalent to its dual formulation,

$$W_1(\mu_t^N, \mu_t) = \sup\left\{\int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \{0, 1, 2\}} \phi\left(\mu_t^N - \mu_t\right), \quad \phi : \mathbb{R}^d \times \{0, 1, 2\} \to \mathbb{R} \text{ with } Lip(\phi) \le 1\right\},$$

which apparently shows the strong dependence of the rate of convergence on the regularity of the test functions. Therefore, to recover the right order of normalization $N^{1/2}$ as classical central limit theorem, we need to modify the regularity of the test functions. This point leads us to study a class of the weighted Sobolev spaces with polynomial weights (see the definition in subsection 2.1), which is well adapted to our needs. The importance of the weights will be explained in the proof, provided that the weight satisfies suitable integrability properties. On the other hand, we can observe that the dimension d plays a crucial role in the rate of convergence (1.5) and it is well-known that the Sobolev embeddings depend strongly on the dimension of the space; this will help us identify the right level of smoothness.

Let us now discuss the main differences between our results and the previous one in the exiting literature. In fact, this kind of spatial epidemic model have been studied by Emakoua et al. [5,12] with the same SIR epidemic dynamic but with a simpler model for the displacement of individuals (individual's movements follow independent Brownian motions on a compact torus in [5], and follow independent diffusion processes in [12]), where the mean field interactions between individuals through the kernel V are not taken into account. This leads to the main difficulty in comparison with the previous works where we have the presence of nonlocal terms in the evolution equation of the fluctuation process. In contrast to the independence of individual's movements in [5, 12], these nonlocal terms are created by mean field interactions and do not allow to obtain directly good estimates for the norm of fluctuations in the weighted Sobolev spaces.

Concerning the Hilbertian approach used in this paper, in fact it has been already used to prove central limit theorem in the context of interacting particle systems [15,23,29], mean field games [11], mean field age-dependent Hawkes processes [9], neuron networks [37]. In [15,29],

the authors developed a coupling method used in [38] and [20] with some relaxations on the initial conditions and coefficients, aim to provide a sharper estimate on the control of the couplings (instead of the original one of order 2),

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{t\leq T} \left|X_t^{i,N} - X_t^i\right|^4\right] \leq \frac{C_T}{N^2},\tag{1.6}$$

where (X^i) , $i = \{1, \ldots, N\}$ are i.i.d copies of the unique solution to the limit SDE of the original system. This estimate of order 4 requires a careful analysis when compute the covariance between the pairs $(X^{i,N}, X^i)$ and taking advantage of the independence between the particles (X^i) , $i = \{1, \ldots, N\}$. In [11], Delarue et al. also used the coupling method and this estimate of order 4 to prove the central limit theorem for the system consisting of N agents in the context of mean field games. The main idea is to use the solution to the mean field limit to construct an associated McKean-Vlasov interacting system of N particles that is sufficiently close to the original system for large N, then derive the central limit theorem for the latter from the central limit theorem for the former.

However, the main reason prevents us from applying this coupling method to prove central limit theorem is that the authors in the aforementioned articles only work in a continuous framework and depend strongly on the estimate of order 4 (1.6). In contrast, the individuals in our model possess both continuous and discrete features. In the previous work [18], we have pointed out the compulsion of using estimates of order 1 for the couplings (see in the proof of the quantitative law of large numbers). As usual when working with jump processes, we can not get higher rate for the moment estimates as in (1.6). Hence the standard trick used for diffusion processes is useless in this case. To adapt with this fact, the author in [9] developed the above coupling method for a specific mean field interacting age-dependent Hawkes process. A refined version of the higher order estimates (1.6) is provided by estimating the coupling in the total variation sense.

Unlike the articles listed above using a coupling method to prove the central limit theorem, the key idea in the proof in the present paper is to use the semigroup language and some appropriate estimates to directly study the linearized evolution equation of the fluctuation process in a suitable weighted Sobolev space. It will be shown that under some suitable assumptions on the initial conditions and the smoothness of the coefficients, the fluctuation processes $(\eta_t^N)_{N\geq 1}$ belong uniformly in N and t to the weighted Sobolev spaces $H^{-(1+D),2D}$ and $H^{-(2+2D),D}$. Then we prove the tightness of the pre-limit fluctuation process in $\mathcal{D}([0,T], H^{-(2+2D),D})$ by using appropriate compact embeddings. We also show that the Hilbert space $H^{-(2+2D),D}$ where we obtain the tightness result have the smallest regularity order as possible in this class of Sobolev spaces with polynomial weights. Finally, we complete the proof of convergence of the sequence $(\eta^N)_{N\geq 1}$ by identifying the limit fluctuation process η as the unique solution of a linear stochastic partial differential equation.

Organisation of the paper. In Section 2, we provide some preliminaries on the weighted Sobolev spaces and state the main results. Section 3 is devoted to prove the tightness of the pre-limit fluctuation process and the martingale terms appearing in the evolution equation. In order to do this, we first establish some key estimates in dual Sobolev norms and then taking advantage of Hilbert structure of the Sobolev spaces to prove the tightness results. Section 4 contains the proof of the main Theorem 2.3, and we give a characterization for the limit fluctuation process as the unique solution to a linear SPDE driven by space-time white noises.

M. HAURAY, E. PARDOUX, Y. V. VUONG

2. Preliminaries and main result

2.1. Preliminaries on weighted Sobolev spaces. This section is devoted to the definitions and some technical results related to the Sobolev spaces with polynomial weights used in this paper. This kind of weighted Sobolev spaces was first introduced by [31], see also in [15].

Weighted Sobolev spaces. For all $j \in \mathbb{N}, \alpha > 0, g \in C^{j}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$, we define

$$\left\|g\right\|_{j,\alpha} := \left(\sum_{|k| \le j} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{|D^k g(x)|^2}{(1+|x|^2)^{\alpha}} dx\right)^{1/2},$$

where $k = (k_1, ..., k_d), |k| = k_1 + \dots + k_d$.

Let $H^{j,\alpha}$ be the completion of the space consisting of all functions $g \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with compact support with respect to $\|.\|_{j,\alpha}$ norm. $H^{j,\alpha}$ equipped with this norm is a Hilbert space. We denote by $H^{-j,\alpha}$ its dual space.

Let $C^{j,\alpha}$ be the space of functions g with continuous partial derivatives up to order j and satisfies

$$\lim_{|x| \to \infty} \frac{\left| D^k g(x) \right|}{1 + |x|^{\alpha}} = 0, \quad \forall |k| \le j.$$

This space is normed with

$$\left\|g\right\|_{C^{j,\alpha}} = \sum_{|k| \le j} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d} \frac{\left|D^k g(x)\right|}{1 + |x|^{\alpha}}.$$

Sobolev embeddings. We recall the some continuous embeddings related to the Sobolev spaces defined above, which are useful in some proofs in the rest of this paper. For more details, see e.g. [1], [15].

We have

$$C^{j,0} \hookrightarrow H^{j,\alpha}, \qquad j \ge 0, \quad \alpha > d/2 \left(\text{so that } \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} 1/(1+|x|^{2\alpha})dx < +\infty \right),$$
 (2.1)

$$H^{j+m,\alpha} \hookrightarrow C^{j,\alpha}, \qquad j \ge 0, \quad m > d/2, \quad \alpha \ge 0,$$

$$(2.2)$$

i.e. there exists K, K' (that depends on m, j and α) such that

$$\begin{split} \left\|g\right\|_{H^{j,\alpha}} &\leq K \left\|g\right\|_{C^{j,0}}, \\ \left\|g\right\|_{C^{j,\alpha}} &\leq K' \left\|g\right\|_{H^{j+m,\alpha}}. \end{split}$$

Moreover, using the embedding (2.2), we can prove that

$$H^{j+m,\alpha} \hookrightarrow_c H^{j,\alpha+\beta}, \qquad j \ge 0, \quad m > d/2, \quad \alpha \ge 0, \quad \beta > d/2, \qquad (2.3)$$

where \hookrightarrow_c means that the embedding is compact.

We also deduce the following dual embeddings:

$$H^{-j,\alpha} \hookrightarrow C^{-j,0}, \qquad j \ge 0, \quad \alpha > d/2,$$

$$(2.4)$$

$$C^{-j,\alpha} \hookrightarrow H^{-(j+m),\alpha}, \qquad j \ge 0, \quad m > d/2, \quad \alpha \ge 0,$$

$$(2.5)$$

$$H^{-j,\alpha+\beta} \hookrightarrow_c H^{-(j+m),\alpha}, \qquad j \ge 0, \quad m > d/2, \quad \alpha \ge 0, \quad \beta > d/2.$$
(2.6)

Hilbert structures. In some of the proofs given in the next sections, we consider an orthonormal basis $(\phi_k)_{k\geq 1}$ of $H^{j,\alpha}$ composed of C^{∞} functions with compact support. The existence of such a basis follows from the fact that the functions of class C^{∞} with compact support are dense in $H^{j,\alpha}$. Moreover, if $(\phi_k)_{k\geq 1}$ is an orthonormal basis of $H^{j,\alpha}$ and w belongs to $H^{-j,\alpha}$ then we have

$$\left\|w\right\|_{-j,\alpha}^{2} = \sum_{k \ge 1} \left\langle w, \phi_{k} \right\rangle^{2} \tag{2.7}$$

thanks to Parseval's identity.

In the rest of this paper, to avoid the confusions, we notice that the notation $(\phi_k)_{k\geq 1}$ will be used for the orthonormal basis of both $H^{j,\alpha}$ and its dual space $H^{-j,\alpha}$.

2.2. Main results. In this section, we rigorously describe the evolution equation of the fluctuation process and state the main results. In the previous work [18], as usual by Ito's formula we showed that the evolution of the empirical measure process μ_t^N satisfies the following equation:

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \mu_t^N, \phi \right\rangle &= \left\langle \mu_0^N, \phi \right\rangle + \int_0^t \left\langle \mu_s^N, D_x \phi \cdot V_{\mu_s^N} \right\rangle ds + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t \left\langle \mu_s^N, \operatorname{tr}\left[(\sigma \sigma^T) D_{xx}^2 \phi\right] \right\rangle ds \\ &+ \int_0^t \left\langle \mu_s^N(dx, 0), K_{\mu_s^N}(\mathbb{1}_{e=1} - \mathbb{1}_{e=0}) \phi \right\rangle ds + \int_0^t \left\langle \mu_s^N(dx, 1), \gamma(\mathbb{1}_{e=2} - \mathbb{1}_{e=1}) \phi \right\rangle ds \\ &+ M_t^N(\phi), \end{split}$$

$$(2.8)$$

where $M_t^N(\phi)$ is a martingale which converges to 0,

From equation (2.8) of the empirical measure process μ_t^N and its mean field limit (1.4), taking the difference and rescaling by $N^{1/2}$, is not hard to obtain the evolution equation of the fluctuation process η_t^N as the following:

$$\langle \eta_t^N, \phi \rangle = \langle \eta_0^N, \phi \rangle + \int_0^t \left\langle \eta_s^N, D_x \phi \cdot V_{\mu_s^N} \right\rangle ds + \int_0^t \left\langle \mu_s, D_x \phi \cdot V_{\eta_s^N} \right\rangle ds + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t \left\langle \eta_s^N, \operatorname{tr} \left[(\sigma \sigma^T) D_{xx}^2 \phi \right] \right\rangle ds$$

$$+ \int_0^t \left\langle \eta_s^N(dx, 0), K_{\mu_s^N}(\mathbb{1}_{e=1} - \mathbb{1}_{e=0}) \phi \right\rangle ds + \int_0^t \left\langle \mu_s(dx, 0), K_{\eta_s^N}(\mathbb{1}_{e=1} - \mathbb{1}_{e=0}) \phi \right\rangle ds$$

$$+ \int_0^t \left\langle \eta_s^N(dx, 1), \gamma(\mathbb{1}_{e=2} - \mathbb{1}_{e=1}) \phi \right\rangle ds + \sqrt{N} M_t^N(\phi).$$

$$(2.9)$$

It is worth noting that the second and the third term in the first line on the r.h.s. are created by linearizing the nonlinear term $\langle \mu_s^N, D_x \phi \cdot V_{\mu_s^N} \rangle$, whereas the two terms in the second line are the linearization of $\langle \mu_s^N(dx,0), K_{\mu_s^N}(\mathbb{1}_{e=1} - \mathbb{1}_{e=0})\phi \rangle$. In contrast to the law of large numbers, the martingale term in (2.9) does not go to 0 when N tends to infinity.

Instead of vanishing, the renormalized martingale $\sqrt{N}M_t^N$ is expected to converge to some Gaussian process.

Before giving statement about the convergence, in fact the first problem one needs to overcome is to find a suitable space in which both η^N and its limit belong. We want to prove that the fluctuation η_t^N belongs to some Sobolev space $H^{-j,\alpha}$ uniformly in N and $t \in [0,T]$. With the mention of an orthonormal basis $(\phi_k)_{k\geq 1}$ of the Sobolev space $H^{j,\alpha}$ as in (2.7), our desire is to get the following

$$\sup_{N \ge 1} \sup_{t \le T} \mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{k \ge 1} \left\langle \eta_t^N, \phi_k \right\rangle^2 \right] = \sup_{N \ge 1} \sup_{t \le T} \mathbb{E} \left[\left\| \eta_t^N \right\|_{-j,\alpha}^2 \right] < +\infty.$$
(2.10)

To see the impact of regularity order of the test functions to the the estimates of the fluctuation process η_t^N in the dual spaces, let us give in the following a simple example on the class of functions with bounded Lipschitz constant, where we can compute properly by using the Kantorovich-Rubistein duality. Indeed, from the quantitative law of large number, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{\phi\in Lip(1)} \left| \left\langle \eta_t^N, \phi \right\rangle \right| \right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{\phi\in Lip(1)} \left| \left\langle \sqrt{N}(\mu_t^N - \mu_t), \phi \right\rangle \right| \right]$$
$$= \sqrt{N} \mathbb{E}\left[W_1(\mu_t^N, \mu_t) \right]$$
$$\leq C(t) \left(\sqrt{N} \mathbb{E}\left[W_1\left(\mu_0^N, \mu_0\right) \right] + \begin{cases} 1, & d = 1, \\ \log N, & d = 2, \\ N^{(d-2)/2d}, & d \ge 3. \end{cases} \right).$$

Since $\{(X_0^{i,N}, E_0^{i,N})\}_{N\geq 1}$ are i.i.d. with the initial law μ_0 , the classical central limit theorem ensures at initial time that η_0^N converges in law to a limit η_0 , which is a Gaussian. However, the above estimate is obviously not enough to guarantee central limit theorem for the fluctuation process when it evolves in time, and even the uniform estimate (2.10) fails when the dimension d is large. Therefore, in order to obtain the needed estimates and recover the right order for convergence in central limit theorem, test functions indeed must be more regular.

Before stating the main results, let us introduce the assumptions made for the initial condition and the coefficients throughout this paper is listed here. The Assumptions H1, H2 used to prove the key estimates used this paper. In order to state the main result on the central limit theorem, more regularity on the coefficients will be required.

Let $\alpha \ge 0$ and $D := \lfloor d/2 \rfloor$ throughout the rest of this paper.

Assumption H1: $\sup_{N\geq 1} \mathbb{E}\left[|X_0^{1,N}|^{4D}\right] < +\infty.$ Assumption H2: The functions σ, V, K belong to class C_b^{1+D} . Assumption H3: The functions $\sigma, V, K \in C_b^{2+2D}$.

It is shown in the following that under appropriate assumptions on the initial conditions and the smoothness of the coefficients, the fluctuation processes $(\eta_t^N)_{N\geq 1}$ belong uniformly in N and t to $H^{-(1+D),2D}$.

Proposition 2.1. Under Assumptions **H1**, **H2**, for any T > 0, the fluctuation process η_t^N belongs to $H^{-(1+D),2D}$ uniformly in t and N, i.e.

$$\sup_{N\geq 1} \mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{t\leq T} \left\|\eta_t^N\right\|_{-(1+D),2D}^2\right] < +\infty.$$
(2.11)

Then we prove the tightness of the fluctuation process η_t^N in $\mathcal{D}([0,T], H^{-(2+2D),D})$ by using the embeddings in subsection 2.1.

Proposition 2.2. The sequence of the laws of $(\eta^N)_{N>1}$ is tight in $\mathcal{D}([0,T], H^{-(2+2D),D})$.

The main theorem of this paper will be stated below, where we identify the limit fluctuation process η as the unique solution of a linear stochastic partial differential equation.

Theorem 2.3. Under Assumptions **H1**, **H3**, the sequence of fluctuation processes $(\eta^N)_{N\geq 1}$ converges in law in $\mathcal{D}([0,T], H^{-(2+2D),D})$ to a process η which is the solution in $H^{-(2+2D),D}$ of the following equation

$$\langle \eta_t, \phi \rangle = \langle \eta_0, \phi \rangle + \int_0^t \langle \eta_s, D_x \phi \cdot V_{\mu_s} \rangle \, ds + \int_0^t \langle \mu_s, D_x \phi \cdot V_{\eta_s} \rangle \, ds + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t \left\langle \eta_s, \operatorname{tr} \left[(\sigma \sigma^T) D_{xx}^2 \phi \right] \right\rangle \, ds$$

$$+ \int_0^t \left\langle \eta_s(dx, 0), K_{\mu_s}(\mathbb{1}_{e=1} - \mathbb{1}_{e=0}) \phi \right\rangle \, ds + \int_0^t \left\langle \mu_s(dx, 0), K_{\eta_s}(\mathbb{1}_{e=1} - \mathbb{1}_{e=0}) \phi \right\rangle \, ds$$

$$+ \int_0^t \left\langle \eta_s(dx, 1), \gamma(\mathbb{1}_{e=2} - \mathbb{1}_{e=1}) \phi \right\rangle \, ds + \mathcal{W}_t(\phi),$$

$$(2.12)$$

where $\mathcal{W}_t(\phi)$ is a continuous centered Gaussian process with values in $H^{-(2+2D),D}$ and covariance is given by: For all $\phi_1, \phi_2 \in H^{(2+2D),D}$, for any $s, t \in [0,T]$,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\mathcal{W}_{t}(\phi_{1})\mathcal{W}_{s}(\phi_{2})\right] = \int_{0}^{t\wedge s} \left\langle \mu_{r}, \sigma\sigma^{T}D_{x}\phi_{1}\cdot D_{x}\phi_{2} \right\rangle dr + \int_{0}^{t\wedge s} \left\langle \mu_{s}(dx,0), K_{\mu_{r}(dx,1)}\phi_{1}\phi_{2} \right\rangle dr + \int_{0}^{t\wedge s} \left\langle \mu_{r}(dx,1), \gamma\phi_{1}\phi_{2} \right\rangle dr.$$
(2.13)

3. TIGHTNESS

3.1. **Preliminary estimates.** In this section, we first prove some useful estimates which are the technical steps in the proof of tightness and convergence in the next sections.

We first recall a fundamental result which states that the initial condition H1 propagates finite moments uniformly in N and time $t \in [0, T]$. The proof of this result is classical.

Lemma 3.1. For any T > 0, there exists a constant C_T such that

$$\sup_{N \ge 1} \mathbb{E} \left[\sup_{t \le T} |X_t^{i,N}|^{4D} \right] \le C_T, \quad \forall 1 \le i \le N,$$
$$\mathbb{E} \left[\sup_{t \le T} |X_t|^{4D} \right] \le C_T.$$

Remark 3.2. By the definition of the empirical measure μ_t^N and its limit μ_t , we can easily deduce from Lemma 3.1 that

$$\sup_{N\geq 1} \mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{t\leq T} \left\langle \mu_t^N, |\cdot|^{4D} \right\rangle\right] \leq C_T,$$
$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{t\leq T} \left\langle \mu_t, |\cdot|^{4D} \right\rangle\right] \leq C_T.$$

Next, we give some useful estimates of several linear operators on $H^{j,\alpha}$, which will be the technical steps in the main proof. We may use it many times in the next sections.

Lemma 3.3. For any fixed $\alpha \geq 0$, $j \geq 1 + D$ and $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$, the mappings $\delta_x, \Lambda_{x,y}, \Psi_x : H^{j,\alpha} \to \mathbb{R}$, defined by

$$\delta_x(\phi) := \phi(x); \quad \Lambda_{x,y}(\phi) := \phi(x) - \phi(y); \quad \Psi_x(\phi) := (\operatorname{div} \phi)(x)$$

are continuous linear forms, and we have

$$\begin{split} \left\| \delta_x \right\|_{-j,\alpha} &\leq K(1+|x|^{\alpha}), \\ \left\| \Lambda_{x,y} \right\|_{-j,\alpha} &\leq K(1+|x|^{\alpha}+|y|^{\alpha}), \\ \left\| \Psi_x \right\|_{-j,\alpha} &\leq K(1+|x|^{\alpha}). \end{split}$$
(3.1)

Proof. We prove the first estimate by applying the embedding (2.2),

$$|\delta_x(\phi)| = |\phi(x)| \le \|\phi\|_{C^{0,\alpha}} (1+|x|^{\alpha}) \le K \|\phi\|_{j,\alpha} (1+|x|^{\alpha}), \quad j \ge D, \alpha \ge 0.$$
(3.2)

Using the definition of dual norms of linear mappings, we have

$$\left\|\delta_x\right\|_{-j,\alpha} = \sup_{0 \neq \phi \in H^{j,\alpha}} \frac{\left|\delta_x(\phi)\right|}{\left\|\phi\right\|_{j,\alpha}} \le K(1+|x|^{\alpha}).$$

The estimate for $\Lambda_{x,y}$ follows (3.2) since

$$|\Lambda_{x,y}(\phi)| \le |\phi(x)| + |\phi(y)| = |\delta_x(\phi)| + |\delta_y(\phi)|.$$

A similar argument holds true for Ψ_x with $j \ge D + 1, \alpha \ge 0$.

3.2. Decomposition of the fluctuations. In this section, we will describe the fluctuation process $(\eta_t^N)_{t\geq 0}$ explicitly in terms of each epidemiological state S, I and R. On the one hand, this turns the equation (2.9) to a system consisting of three compartments. On the other hand, rewriting the evolution equation of fluctuation process as a system adapts to our strategy to prove the convergence in the next section. Indeed, we will use a semigroup approach for these linearized equations in order to prove the main estimate 2.1. For that reason, in order to make the semigroup representation of the evolution equation (2.9) less complex, we will consider its projections on $\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ for each epidemiological state separately. For more details concerning this semigroup representation, see Section 3.5.

Let

$$\left(\mu^{S,N},\mu^{I,N},\mu^{R,N}\right) = \left(\mathbb{1}_{\{e=0\}}\mu^{N},\mathbb{1}_{\{e=1\}}\mu^{N},\mathbb{1}_{\{e=2\}}\mu^{N}\right),$$

we regard $\mu^{S,N}, \mu^{I,N}, \mu^{R,N}$ as càdlàg processes taking values in the space of finite measures on \mathbb{R}^d , equipped with the Skorohod topology. We notice that for any $t \in [0, T]$,

$$\int_E \mu_t^N(de) = \int_E \left(\mu_t^{S,N}, \mu_t^{I,N}, \mu_t^{R,N}\right)(de).$$

For each $e \in \{S, I, R\}$, we introduce the following alternative notations

$$\sigma^{e}(\cdot) := \sigma(\cdot, e),$$

$$V^{e}_{\mu}(\cdot) := V_{\mu}(\cdot, e) = \left\langle V(\cdot, e, y, f), \mu(dy, df) \right\rangle$$

to adapt with the measures on \mathbb{R}^d .

Now as usual, by using Itô's formula we can derive the evolution equation for the empirical measures $\mu^{S,N}$, $\mu^{I,N}$, $\mu^{R,N}$. Indeed, for any function $\phi \in C_b^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, we have the following system which is equivalent to equation (2.8):

$$\langle \mu_t^{S,N}, \phi \rangle = \langle \mu_0^{S,N}, \phi \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t \langle \mu_s^{S,N}, \operatorname{tr} \left[(\sigma^S \sigma^{S^\dagger}) D_{xx}^2 \phi \right] \rangle ds + \int_0^t \langle \mu_s^{S,N}, D_x \phi \cdot V_{\mu_s^N}^S \rangle ds \\ - \int_0^t \langle \mu_s^{S,N}, \phi K_{\mu_s^{I,N}} \rangle ds + M_t^{S,N}(\phi),$$

$$(3.3)$$

$$\langle \mu_t^{I,N}, \phi \rangle = \langle \mu_0^{I,N}, \phi \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t \langle \mu_s^{I,N}, \operatorname{tr} \left[(\sigma^I \sigma^{I^\dagger}) D_{xx}^2 \phi \right] \rangle ds + \int_0^t \langle \mu_s^{I,N}, D_x \phi \cdot V_{\mu_s^N}^I \rangle ds$$

$$+ \int_0^t \langle \mu_s^{S,N}, \phi K_{\mu_s^{I,N}} \rangle ds - \gamma \int_0^t \langle \mu_s^{I,N}, \phi \rangle ds + M_t^{I,N}(\phi),$$

$$(3.4)$$

$$\langle \mu_t^{R,N}, \phi \rangle = \langle \mu_0^{R,N}, \phi \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t \langle \mu_s^{R,N}, \operatorname{tr}\left[(\sigma^R \sigma^{R^{\dagger}}) D_{xx}^2 \phi\right] \rangle ds + \int_0^t \langle \mu_s^{R,N}, D_x \phi \cdot V_{\mu_s^N} \rangle ds$$
$$+ \gamma \int_0^t \langle \mu_s^{I,N}, \phi \rangle ds + M_t^{R,N}(\phi),$$
(3.5)

where for each $e \in \{S, I, R\}$, the quantity $M_t^{e, N}$ is a local martingale represented by

$$\begin{split} M^{e,N}_t(\phi) = &\frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \int_0^t \mathbbm{1}_{\{E^{i,N}_s = e\}} D_x \phi(X^{i,N}_s) \sigma^e(X^{i,N}_s) dB^i_s \\ &+ \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \int_{[0,t] \times \mathbb{R}_+} \left(\mathbbm{1}_e(E^{i,N}_s) - \mathbbm{1}_e(E^{i,N}_{s^-}) \right) \phi(X^{i,N}_s) \times \\ &\times \mathbbm{1}_{\left\{ u \leq K_{\mu^{I,N}_s}(X^{i,N}_s) \mathbbm{1}_0(E^{i,N}_{s^-}) + \gamma \mathbbm{1}_1(E^{i,N}_{s^-}) \right\}} \bar{Q}^i(ds, du). \end{split}$$

We know that these local martingles converge to 0 as $N \to \infty$, and the Law of Large Number result established in the previous article [18] ensures the convergence of the triple $(\mu^{S,N}, \mu^{I,N}, \mu^{R,N}) \in (\mathcal{D}([0,T], \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^d)))^3$ towards $(\mu^S, \mu^I, \mu^R) \in (C([0,T], \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^d)))^3$, which is the unique solution of the limit system of (3.3)-(3.5).

Now, if we consider for each epidemiological state the fluctuation process around its mean field limit, namely

$$\left(\eta^{S,N}, \eta^{I,N}, \eta^{R,N}\right) = \left(\sqrt{N}(\mu^{S,N} - \mu^{S}), \sqrt{N}(\mu^{I,N} - \mu^{I}), \sqrt{N}(\mu^{R,N} - \mu^{R})\right),$$

then equation (2.9) will become the following system:

$$\langle \eta_t^{S,N}, \phi \rangle = \langle \eta_0^{S,N}, \phi \rangle + \int_0^t \langle \eta_s^{S,N}, L_s^{S,N}(\phi) \rangle ds + \int_0^t \langle \eta_s^N, \langle \mu_s^S, D_x \phi \cdot V^S \rangle \rangle ds - \int_0^t \langle \eta_s^{I,N}, \langle \mu_s^S, \phi K \rangle \rangle ds + \tilde{M}_t^{S,N}(\phi),$$

$$(3.6)$$

$$\langle \eta_t^{I,N}, \phi \rangle = \langle \eta_0^{I,N}, \phi \rangle + \int_0^t \langle \eta_s^{I,N}, L_s^{I,N}(\phi) \rangle ds + \int_0^t \langle \eta_s^N, \langle \mu_s^I, D_x \phi \cdot V^I \rangle \rangle ds$$
$$+ \int_0^t \langle \eta_s^{S,N}, \phi K_{\mu_s^{I,N}} \rangle ds + \tilde{M}_t^{I,N}(\phi),$$
(3.7)

$$\langle \eta_t^{R,N}, \phi \rangle = \langle \eta_0^{R,N}, \phi \rangle + \int_0^t \langle \eta_s^{R,N}, L_s^{R,N}(\phi) \rangle ds + \int_0^t \langle \eta_s^N, \langle \mu_s^R, D_x \phi \cdot V^R \rangle \rangle ds$$
$$+ \gamma \int_0^t \langle \eta_s^{I,N}, \phi \rangle ds + \tilde{M}_t^{R,N}(\phi),$$
(3.8)

where the differential operators $L^{S,N}$, $L^{I,N}$, $L^{R,N}$ are defined by

$$L_{s}^{S,N}(\phi) = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left[(\sigma^{S} \sigma^{S^{\dagger}}) D_{xx}^{2} \phi \right] + D_{x} \phi \cdot V_{\mu_{s}^{N}}^{S} - \phi K_{\mu_{s}^{I,N}},$$
(3.9)

$$L_s^{I,N}(\phi) = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left[(\sigma^I \sigma^{I^{\dagger}}) D_{xx}^2 \phi \right] + D_x \phi \cdot V_{\mu_s^N}^I + \langle \mu_s^S, \phi K \rangle - \gamma \phi, \qquad (3.10)$$

$$L_s^{R,N}(\phi) = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left[(\sigma^R \sigma^{R^{\dagger}}) D_{xx}^2 \phi \right] + D_x \phi \cdot V_{\mu_s^N}^R, \qquad (3.11)$$

and the martingale terms $\tilde{M}_t^{e,N} = \sqrt{N}M_t^{e,N}$ for $e \in \{S, I, R\}$.

Remark 3.4. The first term in the definition of differential operators $L^{S,N}$, $L^{I,N}$, $L^{R,N}$ emerge naturally after renormalizing the difference between the original system (3.3)-(3.5) and its limit (there is no linearization here), whereas the other terms represent a part of the linearized terms and the epidemic dynamic.

We also notice that

$$\int_E \eta^N(de) = \int_E \left(\eta^{S,N} + \eta^{I,N} + \eta^{R,N}\right)(de).$$

Remark 3.5. We consider the above system as a semimartingale representation of $\eta^{S,N}$, $\eta^{I,N}$, $\eta^{R,N}$ and regard $\tilde{M}^{S,N}$, $\tilde{M}^{I,N}$, $\tilde{M}^{R,N}$ as distributions acting on test functions. More specifically, in the next sections, we will show that they are the distributions in $H^{-(2+2D),D}$. Nevertheless, instead of using the usual notion for the dual product of $\tilde{M}_t^{e,N}$ and function ϕ , we always write $\tilde{M}_t^{e,N}(\phi)$ to avoid the abuse of notion $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$, e.g. when compute the quadratic variations as in (3.12) below.

Before going on, let us present a heuristic description how the limit of the martingale terms should look like. For $e \in \{S, I, R\}$ and any $\phi \in C_b^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, $\tilde{M}_t^{e,N}(\phi)$ is a real valued martingale with the quadratic variation given by

$$\begin{split} \left< \tilde{M}^{S,N}(\phi) \right>_{t} = & \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{1}_{0} (E_{s}^{i,N}) \left(D_{x} \phi(X_{s}^{i,N}) \sigma^{S}(X_{s}^{i,N}) \right)^{2} ds \\ & + \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{1}_{0} (E_{s}^{i,N}) \phi(X_{s}^{i,N})^{2} K_{\mu_{s}^{I,N}}(X_{s}^{i,N}) ds, \\ & = \int_{0}^{t} \left< \mu_{s}^{S,N}, \left(D_{x} \phi \sigma^{S} \right)^{2} \right> ds + \int_{0}^{t} \left< \mu_{s}^{S,N}, \phi^{2} K_{\mu_{s}^{I,N}} \right> ds, \end{split}$$
(3.12)
$$\left< \tilde{M}^{I,N}(\phi) \right>_{t} = & \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{1}_{1} (E_{s}^{i,N}) \left(D_{x} \phi(X_{s}^{i,N}) \sigma^{I}(X_{s}^{i,N}) \right)^{2} ds \end{split}$$

$$\begin{aligned} &+ \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{1}_{0} (E_{s}^{i,N}) \phi(X_{s}^{i,N})^{2} K_{\mu_{s}^{I,N}}(X_{s}^{i,N}) + \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \int_{0}^{t} \gamma \mathbb{1}_{1} (E_{s}^{i,N}) \phi(X_{s}^{i,N})^{2} ds \\ &= \int_{0}^{t} \langle \mu_{s}^{I,N}, \left(D_{x} \phi \sigma^{I} \right)^{2} \rangle ds + \int_{0}^{t} \langle \mu_{s}^{S,N}, \phi^{2} K_{\mu_{s}^{I,N}} \rangle ds + \int_{0}^{t} \langle \mu_{s}^{I,N}, \gamma \phi^{2} \rangle ds, \quad (3.13) \\ &\langle \tilde{M}^{R,N}(\phi) \rangle_{t} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{1}_{2} (E_{s}^{i,N}) \left(D_{x} \phi(X_{s}^{i,N}) \sigma^{R}(X_{s}^{i,N}) \right)^{2} ds \\ &+ \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \int_{0}^{t} \gamma \mathbb{1}_{1} (E_{s}^{i,N}) \phi(X_{s}^{i,N})^{2} ds, \\ &= \int_{0}^{t} \langle \mu_{s}^{R,N}, \left(D_{x} \phi \sigma^{R} \right)^{2} \rangle ds + \int_{0}^{t} \langle \mu_{s}^{I,N}, \gamma \phi^{2} \rangle ds. \end{aligned}$$

By the Law of Large Number, we can deduce the convergence of the above quadratic variation processes. In the limit, these processes are determined by the limit measures μ^S, μ^I, μ^R which replace $\mu^{S,N}, \mu^{I,N}, \mu^{R,N}$ in equations (3.12)-(3.14). Since the limit processes \tilde{M}^S, \tilde{M}^I , \tilde{M}^R are continuous martingales with the deterministic quadratic variations, they are characterized by the Gaussian processes determined as in (4.1)-(4.3).

3.3. Main estimates in dual spaces. We first establish some estimates for the fluctuations $\eta^{S,N}$, $\eta^{I,N}$, $\eta^{R,N}$ and the martingales $\tilde{M}^{S,N}$, $\tilde{M}^{I,N}$, $\tilde{M}^{R,N}$ with norms in the dual Sobolev spaces $H^{-(1+D),2D}$ and $H^{-(2+2D),D}$. In our framework, even though the jumps are bounded, the position variables take value in \mathbb{R}^d so the use of weighted Sobolev spaces is necessary. The weights and regularity index of that Sobolev spaces will be identified in the proof and related to the order of moment estimates acquired on the position of individuals.

Proposition 3.6. Under Assumptions **H1**, **H2**, for any T > 0 and for each $e \in \{0, 1, 2\}$, the process $\tilde{M}_t^{e,N}$ is a $H^{-(1+D),2D}$ -valued martingale and satisfies

$$\sup_{N\geq 1} \mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{t\leq T} \left\|\tilde{M}_t^{e,N}\right\|_{-(1+D),2D}^2\right] < +\infty.$$

$$(3.15)$$

Proof. We give proof for the case of $\tilde{M}_t^{S,N}$. The estimates for $\tilde{M}_t^{I,N}, \tilde{M}_t^{R,N}$ can be obtained by the similar arguments.

Let $(\phi_k)_{k\geq 1}$ be a complete orthonormal basis of $H^{1+D,2D}$. It suffices to show that

$$\sup_{N \ge 1} \sum_{k \ge 1} \mathbb{E} \left[\sup_{t \le T} \left(\tilde{M}_t^{S,N}(\phi_k) \right)^2 \right] < +\infty.$$
(3.16)

Using Doob's inequality and the boundedness of σ, K , we deduce that

$$\begin{split} \sum_{k\geq 1} \mathbb{E} \left[\sup_{t\leq T} \left(\tilde{M}_t^{S,N}(\phi_k) \right)^2 \right] &\leq C \sum_{k\geq 1} \mathbb{E} \left[\left(\tilde{M}_T^{S,N}(\phi_k) \right)^2 \right] \\ &\leq C \sum_{k\geq 1} \mathbb{E} \left[\int_0^T \left\langle \mu^{S,N}, \left(D_x \phi_k \sigma^S \right)^2 \right\rangle ds \right] \\ &\quad + C \sum_{k\geq 1} \mathbb{E} \left[\int_0^T \left\langle \mu^{S,N}, \phi_k^2 K_{\mu_s^{I,N}} \right\rangle ds \right] \\ &\leq C \sum_{k\geq 1} \mathbb{E} \left[\int_0^T \left\langle \mu^{S,N}, \left(\operatorname{div} \phi_k \right)^2 \right\rangle ds \right] \\ &\quad + C \sum_{k\geq 1} \mathbb{E} \left[\int_0^T \left\langle \mu^{S,N}, \phi_k^2 \right\rangle ds \right] . \end{split}$$

On the other hand, we have

$$\begin{split} r.h.s = & C \sum_{k \ge 1} \int_0^T \mathbb{E} \left[\frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \mathbbm{1}_{\{E_s^{i,N} = 0\}} \big(\operatorname{div} \phi_k(X_s^{i,N}) \big)^2 \right] ds \\ &+ C \sum_{k \ge 1} \int_0^T \mathbb{E} \left[\frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \mathbbm{1}_{\{E_s^{i,N} = 0\}} \phi_k^2(X_s^{i,N}) \right] ds \\ &\le & C \sum_{k \ge 1} \int_0^T \mathbb{E} \left[\big(\operatorname{div} \phi_k(X_s^{1,N}) \big)^2 \right] ds + C \sum_{k \ge 1} \int_0^T \mathbb{E} \left[\phi_k^2(X_s^{1,N}) \right] ds. \end{split}$$

Now using the definition of the linear mappings Ψ_x, δ_x in Lemma 3.3, the above inequality can be rewritten as follows

$$\begin{split} \sum_{k\geq 1} \mathbb{E} \left[\sup_{t\leq T} \left(\tilde{M}_t^{S,N}(\phi_k) \right)^2 \right] \leq & C \mathbb{E} \left[\int_0^T \left\| \Psi_{X_s^{1,N}} \right\|_{-(1+D),2D}^2 ds \right] \\ & + C \mathbb{E} \left[\int_0^T \left\| \delta_{X_s^{1,N}} \right\|_{-(1+D),2D}^2 ds \right]. \end{split}$$

Finally, we combine Lemma 3.3 and Lemma 3.1 to conclude that

$$\sup_{N\geq 1} \mathbb{E} \left[\sup_{t\leq T} \left\| \tilde{M}_t^{S,N} \right\|_{-(1+D),2D}^2 \right] \leq \sup_{N\geq 1} \sum_{k\geq 1} \mathbb{E} \left[\sup_{t\leq T} \left(\tilde{M}_t^{S,N}(\phi_k) \right)^2 \right]$$
$$\leq C \sup_{N\geq 1} \mathbb{E} \left[\sup_{t\leq T} \left(1 + |X_t^{1,N}|^{4D} \right) \right] < +\infty.$$

14

Proposition 3.7. Under Assumptions **H1**, **H2**, for any T > 0, for each $e \in \{0, 1, 2\}$ and for every N, the operator $L_t^{e,N}$ is a linear continuous mapping from $H^{2+2D,D}$ into $H^{1+D,2D}$ and we have for all $\phi \in H^{2+2D,D}$,

$$\left\|L_{t}^{e,N}(\phi)\right\|_{1+D,2D} \le C_{T} \left\|\phi\right\|_{2+2D,D},$$
(3.17)

where the constant C_T does not depend on N and the randomness.

Proof. Recall that

$$L_s^{S,N}(\phi) = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left[(\sigma^S \sigma^{S^{\dagger}}) D_{xx}^2 \phi \right] + D_x \phi \cdot V_{\mu_s^N}^S - \phi K_{\mu_s^{I,N}}$$

Since $\sigma^S, V, K \in C_b^{1+D}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, we easily deduce that

$$\left\|L_{s}^{S,N}(\phi)\right\|_{1+D,2D} \le \left\|\phi\right\|_{3+D,2D} \le C \left\|\phi\right\|_{2+2D,D},$$
(3.18)

where the inequality on the r.h.s follows by the embedding (2.3) and since $D \ge 1$.

The same argument holds for $L_s^{R,N}(\phi)$.

In the representation of $L_s^{I,N}(\phi)$, there is an extra term $\langle \mu_s^S, \phi K \rangle$, which reduces the regularity of the test functions. To treat this tricky term, we start by using the fact that all the derivatives of K up to order 1 + D are bounded, we can differentiate under the integral sign w.r.t. variable y and obtain the following

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left\langle \mu_{s}^{S}, \phi K \right\rangle \right\|_{1+D,2D}^{2} &= \sum_{|k|=0}^{1+D} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \frac{\left| D_{y}^{k} \left\langle \mu_{s}^{S}, \phi K(\cdot, y) \right\rangle \right|^{2}}{1+|y|^{4D}} dy \\ &\leq C \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \frac{\left| \left\langle \mu_{s}^{S}, \phi \right\rangle \right|^{2}}{1+|y|^{4D}} dy \\ &\leq C \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |\phi(x)|^{2} \mu_{s}^{S}(dx) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \frac{1}{1+|y|^{4D}} dy \end{split}$$

Using Lemma 3.3, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\phi(x)|^2 &= |\delta_x(\phi)|^2 \\ &\leq \|\delta_x\|_{-(2+2D),D}^2 \|\phi\|_{(2+2D),D}^2 \\ &\leq C(1+|x|^{2D}) \|\phi\|_{(2+2D),D}^2 \end{aligned}$$

Thus we deduce that

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left\langle \mu_{s}^{S}, \phi K \right\rangle \right\|_{1+D,2D}^{2} \leq C \left\| \phi \right\|_{2+2D,D}^{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left(1 + |x|^{2D} \right) \mu_{s}^{S}(dx) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \frac{1}{1 + |y|^{4D}} dy \\ \leq C \left\| \phi \right\|_{2+2D,D}^{2}, \end{split}$$

where we obtain the last inequality by the fact that 4D > d (thus $\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dy/(1+|y|^{4D})$) and μ_s^S has finite moments of order 2D (by Lemma 3.1). Again, we can observe in the above proof the necessity of weights in Sobolev spaces.

Remark 3.8. In the system (3.6)-(3.8), it remains the terms $\int_0^t \langle \eta_s^N, \langle \mu_s^e, D_x \phi \cdot V^e \rangle \rangle ds$, $e \in \{S, I, R\}$, which are not involved in the integrals $\int_0^t \langle \eta_s^{e,N}, L_s^{e,N} \rangle ds$. In fact, these terms are created when we linearize the transport terms in (3.3)-(3.5). The functions $\langle \mu_s^e, D_x \phi \cdot V^e \rangle$, $e \in \mathbb{R}$

 $\{S, I, R\}$, they all tested to the distribution η_s^N . Following the lines in the proof of Proposition 3.7, we can obtain similar estimates for these functions

$$\left\| \left\langle \mu_s^e, D_x \phi \cdot V^e \right\rangle \right\|_{1+D, 2D} \le C \left\| \phi \right\|_{2+2D, D}, \quad e \in \{S, I, R\}.$$

Proposition 3.9. Under Assumptions **H1**, **H2**, for any T > 0 and for each $e \in \{0, 1, 2\}$, the fluctuation process $\eta_t^{e,N}$ belongs to $H^{-(1+D),2D}$ uniformly in t and N, i.e.

$$\sup_{N \ge 1} \mathbb{E} \left[\sup_{t \le T} \left\| \eta_t^{e,N} \right\|_{-(1+D),2D}^2 \right] < +\infty.$$
(3.19)

The proof of Proposition 3.9 will be postponed to Section 3.5.

Remark 3.10. We have in the following some important remarks:

• We have $\|\cdot\|_{-(2+2D),D} \leq C \|\cdot\|_{-(1+D),2D}$ by the dual embedding (2.6). Now combining with Proposition 3.6 and Proposition 3.9, we can also ensures that for $e \in \{S, I, R\}$, $\eta_t^{e,N}$ and $\tilde{M}_t^{e,N}$ belong to $H^{-(2+2D),D}$, i.e.

$$\sup_{N\geq 1} \mathbb{E} \left[\sup_{t\leq T} \left\| \eta_t^{e,N} \right\|_{-(2+2D),D}^2 \right] < +\infty,$$
$$\sup_{N\geq 1} \mathbb{E} \left[\sup_{t\leq T} \left\| \tilde{M}_t^{e,N} \right\|_{-(2+2D),D}^2 \right] < +\infty.$$

In particular, at the initial time, we have $\sup_{N\geq 1} \mathbb{E}\left[\|\eta_0^{e,N}\|_{-(2+2D),D}^2\right] < +\infty$ under the Assumptions **H1**, **H2**.

• As a consequence of Proposition 3.7, we also have the following statement for the adjoint operators: For $e \in \{S, I, R\}$, for every $u \in H^{-(1+D),2D}$,

$$\left\|L_{t}^{e,N^{*}}u\right\|_{-(2+2D),D}^{2} \leq C_{T}\left\|u\right\|_{-(1+D),2D}^{2}.$$
(3.20)

With the above remark, we can consider the decomposition (3.6)-(3.8) as the following adjoint system in $H^{-(2+2D),D}$

$$\eta_t^{S,N} = \eta_0^{S,N} + \int_0^t L_s^{S,N*} \eta_s^{S,N} ds - \int_0^t \operatorname{div} \left(\mu_s^S V_{\eta_s^N}^S \right) ds - \int_0^t \mu_s^S K_{\eta_s^{I,N}} ds + \tilde{M}_t^{S,N}, \tag{3.21}$$

$$\eta_t^{I,N} = \eta_0^{I,N} + \int_0^t L_s^{I,N*} \eta_s^{I,N} ds - \int_0^t \operatorname{div} \left(\mu_s^I V_{\eta_s^N}^I \right) ds + \int_0^t \mu_s^{S,N} K_{\mu_s^{I,N}} ds + \tilde{M}_t^{I,N}, \qquad (3.22)$$

$$\eta_t^{R,N} = \eta_0^{R,N} + \int_0^t L_s^{R,N*} \eta_s^{R,N} ds - \int_0^t \operatorname{div}\left(\mu_s^R V_{\eta_s^N}^R\right) ds + \gamma \int_0^t \mu_s^S K_{\eta_s^{I,N}} ds + \tilde{M}_t^{R,N}.$$
(3.23)

3.4. **Tightness results.** In the following, we discuss about the benefit of Hilbert structure of the Sobolev spaces used in this present paper when proving the tightness results. Let us state here the Aldous tightness criterion for Hilbert space valued stochastic processes.

Aldous's criterion. [2] Let H be a separable Hilbert space. A sequence of processes $(X^N)_{N\geq 1}$ in $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}_+, H)$ defined on the respective filtered probability spaces $(\Omega^N, \mathcal{F}^N, (\mathcal{F}^N_t)_{t\geq 0}, \mathbb{P}^N)$ is tight if it satisfies both the two following conditions:

(A₁): For every $t \ge 0$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists a compact set $K \subset H$ such that

$$\sup_{N\geq 1} \mathbb{P}^N \left(X_t^N \notin K \right) \le \varepsilon$$

(A₂): For every $\varepsilon, \varepsilon_2 > 0$ and $\theta \ge 0$, there exists $\delta_0 > 0$ and an integer N_0 such that for all $(\mathcal{F}_t^N)_{t>0}$ -stopping time $\tau_N \le \theta$,

$$\sup_{N \ge N_0} \sup_{\delta \le \delta_0} \mathbb{P}^N \left(\left\| X_{\tau_N + \delta}^N - X_{\tau_N}^N \right\|_H \ge \varepsilon \right) \le \varepsilon_2.$$

To check the Aldous criterion, we will use another version of the first condition where (A_1) is replaced by the condition (A'_1) stated below:

 (A'_1) : There exists a Hilbert space H_0 such that $H_0 \hookrightarrow_c H$ and, for all $t \ge 0$,

$$\sup_{N\geq 1} \mathbb{E}^N[\left\|X_t^N\right\|_{H_0}^2] < +\infty,$$

where the notation \hookrightarrow_c means that the embedding is compact and \mathbb{E}^N denotes the expectation associated with the probability \mathbb{P}^N .

But the fact that (A_1) is implied by (A'_1) . Indeed, since the embedding is compact, the closed balls in H_0 are compact in H. Combining with the Markov inequality, (A_1) is satisfied.

Theorem 3.11. The sequences of the laws of $(\tilde{M}^{S,N})_{N\geq 1}$, $(\tilde{M}^{I,N})_{N\geq 1}$, $(\tilde{M}^{R,N})_{N\geq 1}$ are tight in $\mathcal{D}([0,T], H^{-(2+2D),D})$.

Proof. We will only check the two conditions in Aldous's criterion for $\tilde{M}^{S,N}$, the same can be justified for $\tilde{M}^{I,N}$ and $\tilde{M}^{R,N}$.

Thanks to Proposition 3.6, Condition (A₁) is satisfied with $H_0 = H^{-(1+D),2D}$ and $H = H^{-(2+2D),D}$ since the embedding $H^{-(1+D),2D} \hookrightarrow H^{-(2+2D),D}$ is compact.

Condition (A₂) is obtained as soon as it holds for the trace of the process $\ll \tilde{M}^{S,N} \gg_t$, where $\ll \tilde{M}^{S,N} \gg_t$ is the Doob-Meyer process associated with the martingale $(\tilde{M}_t^{S,N})_{t\geq 0}$ and satisfies the following: For any t > 0, $\ll \tilde{M}^{S,N} \gg_t$ is a linear continuous mapping from $H^{1+D,2D}$ to $H^{-(1+D),2D}$ defined for all ϕ, ψ in $H^{1+D,2D}$ by

$$\left\langle \ll \tilde{M}^{S,N} \gg_t(\phi), \psi \right\rangle = \int_0^t \left\langle \mu_s^{S,N}, \left(D_x \phi \sigma^S \right) \left(D_x \psi \sigma^S \right) \right\rangle ds + \int_0^t \left\langle \mu_s^{S,N}, \phi \psi K_{\mu_s^{I,N}} \right\rangle ds$$

(See e.g. Rebolledo's theorem in [22])

Let $T, \varepsilon, \varepsilon_2 > 0$ and let $\tau_N \leq T$ be a stopping time. For a complete orthonormal basis $(\phi_k)_{k>1}$ in $H^{2+2D,D}$, we have

$$\begin{split} \sup_{N \ge N_0} \sup_{\delta \le \delta_0} \mathbb{P} \bigg(\left| \operatorname{tr} \ll \tilde{M}^{S,N} \gg_{\tau_N + \delta} - \operatorname{tr} \ll \tilde{M}^{S,N} \gg_{\tau_N} \right| > \varepsilon \bigg) \\ & \le \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \sup_{N \ge N_0} \sup_{\delta \le \delta_0} \mathbb{E} \left[\sum_{k \ge 1} \left\langle \ll \tilde{M}^{S,N} \gg_{\tau_N + \delta} (\phi_k), \phi_k \right\rangle - \left\langle \ll \tilde{M}^{S,N} \gg_{\tau_N} (\phi_k) \phi_k \right\rangle \right] \\ & \le \frac{C}{\varepsilon} \sup_{N \ge N_0} \sup_{\delta \le \delta_0} \mathbb{E} \left[\int_{\tau_N}^{\tau_N + \delta} \left\langle \mu_s^{S,N}, \left\| \Psi_x \right\|_{-(2+2D),D}^2 + \left\| \delta_x \right\|_{-(2+2D),D}^2 \right\rangle ds \right]. \end{split}$$

At this step, we again use Lemma 3.3 and Lemma 3.1 to bound the r.h.s.,

$$\begin{split} r.h.s. &\leq \frac{C}{\varepsilon} \sup_{N \geq N_0} \sup_{\delta \leq \delta_0} \mathbb{E} \left[\int_{\tau_N}^{\tau_N + \delta} \left\langle \mu_s^{S,N}, \left\| \Psi_x \right\|_{-(1+D),2D}^2 + \left\| \delta_x \right\|_{-(1+D),2D}^2 \right\rangle ds \right] \\ &\leq \frac{C}{\varepsilon} \sup_{N \geq N_0} \sup_{\delta \leq \delta_0} \mathbb{E} \left[\int_{\tau_N}^{\tau_N + \delta} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \left(1 + \left| X_s^{i,N} \right|^{4D} \right) ds \right] \\ &\leq \frac{C\delta_0}{\varepsilon} \sup_{N \geq N_0} \mathbb{E} \left[\sup_{s \leq T} \left(1 + \left| X_s^{1,N} \right|^{4D} \right) \right] \leq \varepsilon_2, \end{split}$$

when δ_0 is small enough. And thus, both the two conditions for tightness are fulfilled.

Theorem 3.12. The sequences of the laws of $(\eta^{S,N})_{N\geq 1}$, $(\eta^{I,N})_{N\geq 1}$, $(\eta^{R,N})_{N\geq 1}$ are tight in $\mathcal{D}([0,T], H^{-(2+2D),D})$.

Proof. Proposition 3.9 implies that condition (A₁) is satisfied with $H_0 = H^{-(1+D),2D}$ and $H = H^{-(2+2D),D}$. Thanks to Rebolledo's Theorem and proof of Theorem 3.11 for the martingale terms, condition (A₂) for the sequences $(\eta^{e,N})_{N\geq 1}$, $e \in \{S, I, R\}$ are satisfied as soon as they are satisfied for the drift terms. We will check for the integrals $\int_0^t L_s^{e,N^*}(\eta_s^{S,N}, \eta_s^{I,N}, \eta_s^{R,N}) ds$, $e \in S, I, R$, the remaining terms in the adjoint equations (3.21)-(3.23) can be done in the similar way.

We now give a proof for instance to $\eta^{S,N}$. Let $T, \varepsilon > 0$ and let $\tau_N \leq T$ be a stopping time. By using Chebyshev's inequality, one can deduce that

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{P}\left(\left\|\int_{0}^{\tau_{N}+\delta}L_{s}^{S,N*}\eta_{s}^{S,N}ds - \int_{0}^{\tau_{N}}L_{s}^{S,N*}\eta_{s}^{S,N}ds\right\|_{-(2+2D),D} \geq \varepsilon\right) \\ & \leq \frac{1}{\varepsilon^{2}}\mathbb{E}\left[\left\|\int_{\tau_{N}}^{\tau_{N}+\delta}L_{s}^{S,N*}\eta_{s}^{S,N}ds\right\|_{-(2+2D),D}^{2}\right] \\ & \leq \frac{\delta}{\varepsilon^{2}}\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{\tau_{N}}^{\tau_{N}+\delta}\left\|L_{s}^{S,N*}\eta_{s}^{S,N}\right\|_{-(2+2D),D}^{2}ds\right]. \end{split}$$

Let $(\phi_k)_{k>1}$ be a complete orthonormal system in $H^{2+2D,D}$, we have

$$\left\|L_{s}^{S,N^{*}}\eta_{s}^{S,N}\right\|_{-(2+2D),D}^{2} = \sum_{k\geq 1} \left\langle \eta_{s}^{S,N}, L_{s}^{S,N}(\phi_{k}) \right\rangle^{2}$$

Thus, using Propposition 3.7 we obtain

$$r.h.s. \leq \frac{\delta}{\varepsilon^2} \mathbb{E} \left[\int_{\tau_N}^{\tau_N + \delta} \sum_{k \geq 1} \left\langle \eta_s^{S,N}, L_s^{S,N}(\phi_k) \right\rangle^2 ds \right]$$
$$\leq \frac{C\delta}{\varepsilon^2} \mathbb{E} \left[\int_{\tau_N}^{\tau_N + \delta} \left\| \eta_s^{S,N} \right\|_{-(1+D),2D}^2 \right]$$
$$\leq \frac{C\delta^2}{\varepsilon^2} \mathbb{E} \left[\sup_{s \leq T} \left\| \eta_s^{S,N} \right\|_{-(1+D),2D}^2 \right].$$

Now thanks to Proposition 3.9, the last expectation is finite and hence, we can find $\delta_0 > 0$ such that the condition (A₂) is satisfied. The proof for tightness of the laws of $(\eta^{S,N})_{N\geq 1}$ in $\mathcal{D}([0,T], H^{-(2+2D),D})$ is completed.

3.5. **Proof of Proposition 3.9.** In this section, we study a semigroup representation of the evolution equation of the fluctuation processes $\eta^{S,N}$, $\eta^{I,N}$, $\eta^{R,N}$. First, we establish some useful estimates in weighted Sobolev norms related to the regularity of those semigroups, and estimates for the stochastic convolution with these semigroups. All results obtained in this section are devoted to prove Proposition 3.9 in Section 3.3.

For each epidemiological state $e \in \{S, I, R\}$, we denote by $(\mathcal{T}_t^e)_{t \in [0,T]}$ the semigroup generated by the second order differential operator $A^e := \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr}[(\sigma^e \sigma^{e\dagger}) D_{xx}^2]$ on the weighted Sobolev space $H^{j,\alpha}$. First, we show in the following the adjoint equations under the action of these semigroups.

Lemma 3.13. For $t \in [0, T]$, the processes $\eta^{S,N}, \eta^{I,N}, \eta^{R,N}$ satisfy the following system:

$$\eta_{t}^{S,N} = \mathcal{T}_{t}^{S^{*}} \eta_{0}^{S,N} - \int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{S^{*}} \operatorname{div} \left(\eta_{s}^{S,N} V_{\mu_{s}^{S}}^{S} \right) ds - \int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{S^{*}} \operatorname{div} \left(\mu_{s}^{S} V_{\eta_{s}^{N}}^{S} \right) ds \\ - \int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{S^{*}} \left(\eta_{s}^{S,N} K_{\mu_{s}^{I,N}} \right) ds - \int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{S^{*}} \left(\mu_{s}^{S} K_{\eta_{s}^{I,N}} \right) ds + \int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{S^{*}} d\tilde{M}_{s}^{S,N}, \qquad (3.24)$$
$$\eta_{t}^{I,N} = \mathcal{T}_{t}^{I^{*}} \eta_{0}^{I,N} - \int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{I^{*}} \operatorname{div} \left(\eta_{s}^{I,N} V_{\mu_{s}^{N}}^{I} \right) ds - \int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{I^{*}} \operatorname{div} \left(\mu_{s}^{I} V_{\eta_{s}^{N}}^{I} \right) ds \\ + \int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{I^{*}} \left(\eta_{s}^{S,N} K_{\mu_{s}^{I,N}} \right) ds + \int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{I^{*}} \left(\mu_{s}^{S} K_{\eta_{s}^{I,N}} \right) ds - \gamma \int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{I^{*}} \eta_{s}^{I,N} ds \\ + \int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{I^{*}} d\tilde{M}_{s}^{I,N}, \qquad (3.25)$$

$$\eta_t^{R,N} = \mathcal{T}_t^{R^*} \eta_0^{R,N} - \int_0^t \mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{R^*} \operatorname{div} \left(\eta_s^{R,N} V_{\mu_s^N}^R \right) ds - \int_0^t \mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{R^*} \operatorname{div} \left(\mu_s^R V_{\eta_s^N}^R \right) ds + \gamma \int_0^t \mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{R^*} \eta_s^{I,N} ds + \int_0^t \mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{R^*} d\tilde{M}_s^{R,N}.$$
(3.26)

Proof. First, we fix $t \in [0,T]$ and $\phi \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Appling Itô's formula to the test function $\psi(s,x) = (\mathcal{T}^S_{t-s}\phi)(x)$, and notice that for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, the mapping $s \mapsto (\mathcal{T}^S_{t-s}\phi)(x)$ is differentiable and

$$\frac{d}{ds}\mathcal{T}_{t-s}^S(A^S\phi)(x) = -A^S(\mathcal{T}_{t-s}^S\phi)(x),$$

we can derive the following equation similar to (3.6),

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \eta_{t}^{S,N},\phi\right\rangle = &\left\langle \eta_{0}^{S,N},\mathcal{T}_{t}^{S}\phi\right\rangle + \int_{0}^{t}\left\langle \eta_{s}^{S,N},D_{x}(\mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{S}\phi)\cdot V_{\mu_{s}^{S}}^{S}\right\rangle ds + \int_{0}^{t}\left\langle \eta_{s}^{N},\left\langle \mu_{s}^{S},D_{x}(\mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{S}\phi)\cdot V^{S}\right\rangle\right\rangle ds \\ &-\int_{0}^{t}\left\langle \eta_{s}^{S,N},(\mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{S}\phi)K_{\mu_{s}^{I,N}}\right\rangle ds - \int_{0}^{t}\left\langle \eta_{s}^{I,N},\left\langle \mu_{s}^{S},(\mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{S}\phi)K\right\rangle\right\rangle ds + \int_{0}^{t}d\tilde{M}_{s}^{S,N}(\mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{S}\phi). \end{split}$$

Before going on, we will need some estimates on the semigroups $(\mathcal{T}_{t-s}^e)_{e \in \{S,I,R\}}$ in weighted Sobolev spaces $H^{k,\alpha}$, which is stated in the following proposition [19].

We consider A the second order differential operator given in the divergence form by

$$A\phi = -\sum_{i,j=1}^{d} \partial_{x_i} \left(a_{ij}(x) \partial_{x_j} \phi \right),$$

where the coefficients a_{ij} are symmetric, smooth enough (will be precised) and satisfy the uniform ellipticity condition, i.e.

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{d} a_{ij}(x)\xi_i\xi_j \ge \lambda |\xi|^2, \quad \forall x, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

for some positive constant λ . With the above definition, the operator A is a self-adjoint and positive. Let $(\mathcal{T}_t)_{t \leq T}$ be the semigroup generated by A on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Proposition 3.14. Let $k \ge 0$ and assume that $a_{ij} \in C_b^{2k+1}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Let $(\mathcal{T}_t)_{t\ge 0}$ be the semigroup generated by A. For any $T \ge 0$, there exists a constant $C_T > 0$ depends only on $T, d, k, ||a||_{H^{2k+1,\alpha}}$ such that for any $t \in [0, T]$, the following holds true (1)

$$\|\mathcal{T}_t\phi\|_{H^{k,\alpha}} \le C_T \|\phi\|_{H^{k,\alpha}}.$$
(3.27)

(2)

$$\|\nabla_x \mathcal{T}_t \phi\|_{H^{k,\alpha}} \le C_T \left(1 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{t}}\right) \|\phi\|_{H^{k,\alpha}}.$$
(3.28)

Regarding the stochastic convolutions with the semigroups in the system (3.24)-(3.24), we also have some first bounds as follows.

Proposition 3.15. For $0 < t \leq T$, there exists a positive constant C_T such that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left\|\int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{S^{*}} d\tilde{M}_{s}^{S,N}\right\|_{-(1+D),2D}^{2}\right] \leq C_{T},$$
(3.29)

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left\|\int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{I}^{*} d\tilde{M}_{s}^{I,N}\right\|_{-(1+D),2D}^{2}\right] \leq C_{T},\tag{3.30}$$

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left\|\int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{R} d\tilde{M}_{s}^{R,N}\right\|_{-(1+D),2D}^{2}\right] \leq C_{T}.$$
(3.31)

Proof. Let $(\phi_k)_{k\geq 1}$ be a complete orthonormal system in $H^{1+D,2D}$, we can also using the expression of $\mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{S^*} d\tilde{M}_s^{S,N}$ in $H^{-(1+D),2D}$ via this basis, namely

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left\|\int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{S} d\tilde{M}_{s}^{S,N}\right\|_{-(1+D),2D}^{2}\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{t} \sum_{k\geq 1} \left\langle d\tilde{M}_{s}^{S,N}, \mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{S} \phi_{k} \right\rangle^{2} ds\right]$$

and then have the same estimates follows the lines in the proof of Proposition 3.6.

But the above bounds are not exactly what we want. We expect to have an uniformly in time estimate for the stochastic convolutions with the semigroups by exploiting the independence of the noising terms. Indeed, we can observe that if these terms do not involve a convolution with the semigroups $(\mathcal{T}_{t-s}^e)_{e \in \{S,I,R\}}$, then it would be a martingale and we can apply the maximal inequalities for a standard martingale, for instance, the Burkholder-Davis-Gundy inequality and obtain the desired bound. On the other hand, even though the convolution with the semigroups $(\mathcal{T}_{t-s}^e)_{e \in \{S,I,R\}}$ destroys the martingale property, it is still closely related to maximal inequalities by the following lemma: (See Theorem 2.1 in [25])

Lemma 3.16. Let $(H, \|\cdot\|_H)$ be a separable Hilbert space and \mathcal{T}_t be a semigroup acting on H. We assume the exponential growth condition on \mathcal{T}_t , $\|\mathcal{T}_t\|_{L(H)} \leq e^{\alpha t}$ for some positive constant α . Then, there exists a constant C > 0 such that for any H-valued locally square integrable càdlàg martingale M_t ,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{0\leq t\leq T}\left\|\int_{0}^{t}S_{t-s}dM_{s}\right\|_{H}^{2}\right]\leq Ce^{4\alpha T}\mathbb{E}\left[\left\|M_{T}\right\|_{H}^{2}\right].$$

In [17], the authors give a generalization for this maximal inequality with p-th moment (0 of stochastic convolution integrals.

Proof of Proposition 3.9. Using the expression in (3.24), we have

$$\begin{split} \|\eta_{t}^{S,N}\|_{-(1+D),2D} \leq & \|\mathcal{T}_{t}^{S*}\eta_{0}^{S,N}\|_{-(1+D),2D} + \int_{0}^{t} \|\mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{S} \operatorname{div}\left(\eta_{s}^{S,N}V_{\mu_{s}^{N}}^{S}\right)\|_{-(1+D),2D} ds \\ & + \int_{0}^{t} \|\mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{S} \operatorname{div}\left(\mu_{s}^{S}V_{\eta_{s}^{N}}^{S}\right)\|_{-(1+D),2D} ds + \int_{0}^{t} \|\mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{S} \left(\eta_{s}^{S,N}K_{\mu_{s}^{I,N}}\right)\|_{-(1+D),2D} ds \\ & + \int_{0}^{t} \|\mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{S} \left(\mu_{s}^{S}K_{\eta_{s}^{I,N}}\right)\|_{-(1+D),2D} ds + \left\|\int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{S} \operatorname{d}\tilde{M}_{s}^{S,N}\right\|_{-(1+D),2D} . \end{split}$$

Let $(\phi_k)_{k\geq 1}$ be a complete orthonormal system in $H^{1+D,2D}$ and again using the Parseval's identity, we can treat the first order terms in the r.h.s. (which are created by the mean field interaction in the displacement of the individuals) by applying Proposition 3.14.

Let us consider the linear mappings Φ_1 , Φ_2 defined from $H^{1+D,2D}$ to \mathbb{R} given by

$$\Phi_1(\phi_k) = \langle \eta_s^{S,N}, D_x(\mathcal{T}_{t-s}^S \phi_k) \cdot V_{\mu_s^N}^S \rangle, \\ \Phi_2(\phi_k) = \langle \mu_s^S, D_x(\mathcal{T}_{t-s}^S \phi_k) \cdot V_{\eta_s^N}^S \rangle \rangle$$

Using the second inequality in Proposition 3.14, we have

$$\begin{split} \left| \Phi_{1}(\phi_{k}) \right| &= \left| \left\langle \eta_{s}^{S,N}, D_{x}(\mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{S}\phi_{k}) \cdot V_{\mu_{s}^{N}}^{S} \right\rangle \right| \\ &\leq C \left\| \eta_{s}^{S,N} \right\|_{-(1+D),2D} \left\| D_{x}(\mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{S}\phi_{k}) \cdot V_{\mu_{s}^{N}}^{S} \right\|_{1+D,2D} \\ &\leq C \left\| \eta_{s}^{S,N} \right\|_{-(1+D),2D} \left\| \operatorname{div}(\mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{S}\phi_{k}) \right\|_{1+D,2D} \\ &\leq \frac{C_{T}}{\sqrt{t-s}} \left\| \eta_{s}^{S,N} \right\|_{-(1+D),2D} \left\| \phi_{k} \right\|_{1+D,2D}. \end{split}$$

Notice that to obtain the third line, we used the assumption that $V \in C_b^{1+D}(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d)$. Now by the similar way, we also have

$$\left|\Phi_{2}(\phi_{k})\right| \leq \frac{C_{T}}{\sqrt{t-s}} \left\|\mu_{s}^{S}\right\|_{-(1+D),2D} \left\|\phi_{k}\right\|_{1+D,2D},$$

and using the continuous embedding from $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ into $H^{-(1+D),2D}$, we obtain

$$\left|\Phi_{2}(\phi_{k})\right| \leq \frac{C_{T}}{\sqrt{t-s}} \left\|\phi_{k}\right\|_{1+D,2D}$$

Hence we deduce that

$$\int_{0}^{t} \|\mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{S} \operatorname{div}\left(\eta_{s}^{S,N}V_{\mu_{s}^{S}}^{S}\right)\|_{-(1+D),2D} ds + \int_{0}^{t} \|\mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{S} \operatorname{div}\left(\mu_{s}^{S}V_{\eta_{s}^{N}}^{S}\right)\|_{-(1+D),2D} ds \\
\leq \int_{0}^{t} \frac{C_{T}}{\sqrt{t-s}} \|\eta_{s}^{S,N}\|_{-(1+D),2D} ds + \int_{0}^{t} \frac{C_{T}}{\sqrt{t-s}} ds.$$
(3.32)

For the two terms created by the jumping part, using the first statement in Proposition 3.14 we also obtain the following bounds

$$\int_{0}^{t} \|\mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{S}(\eta_{s}^{S,N}K_{\mu_{s}^{I,N}})\|_{-(1+D),2D} ds + \int_{0}^{t} \|\mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{S}(\mu_{s}^{S}K_{\eta_{s}^{I,N}})\|_{-(1+D),2D} ds \\
\leq \int_{0}^{t} C_{T} \|\eta_{s}^{S,N}\|_{-(1+D),2D} ds + \int_{0}^{t} C_{T} \|\mu_{s}^{S}\|_{-(1+D),2D} ds \\
\leq \int_{0}^{t} C_{T} \|\eta_{s}^{S,N}\|_{-(1+D),2D} ds + C_{T}.$$
(3.33)

To treat the last term, we use Lemma 3.16 and Jensen's inequality and Proposition 3.6 to deduce the following

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{t\leq T} \left\| \int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{S} d\tilde{M}_{s}^{S,N} \right\|_{-(1+D),2D} \right] \leq \mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{t\leq T} \left\| \int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{T}_{t-s}^{S} d\tilde{M}_{s}^{S,N} \right\|_{-(1+D),2D}^{2} \right]^{1/2} \leq C_{T} \mathbb{E}\left[\left\| \tilde{M}_{T}^{S,N} \right\|_{-(1+D),2D}^{2} \right]^{1/2} < +\infty.$$
(3.34)

Summing up (3.32)-(3.34), we conclude that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{s\leq t} \left\|\eta_{s}^{S,N}\right\|_{-(1+D),2D}\right] \leq C_{T}\mathbb{E}\left[\left\|\eta_{0}^{S,N}\right\|_{-(1+D),2D}\right] + \int_{0}^{t} \frac{C_{T}}{\sqrt{t-s}}\mathbb{E}\left[\left\|\eta_{s}^{S,N}\right\|_{-(1+D),2D}\right] ds + \int_{0}^{t} C_{T}\mathbb{E}\left[\left\|\eta_{s}^{S,N}\right\|_{-(1+D),2D}\right] ds + C_{T}.$$

The similar arguments give us the estimates uniformly in time for $\eta_t^{S,N}$ and $\eta_t^{S,N}$, namely

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{s\leq t}\|\eta_{s}^{I,N}\|_{-(1+D),2D}\right] \leq & C_{T}\mathbb{E}\left[\|\eta_{0}^{I,N}\|_{-(1+D),2D}\right] + \int_{0}^{t}\frac{C_{T}}{\sqrt{t-s}}\mathbb{E}\left[\|\eta_{s}^{I,N}\|_{-(1+D),2D}\right]ds \\ & + \int_{0}^{t}C_{T}\mathbb{E}\left[\|\eta_{s}^{S,N}\|_{-(1+D),2D} + \|\eta_{t}^{I,N}\|_{-(1+D),2D}\right]ds + C_{T}, \\ \mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{s\leq t}\|\eta_{s}^{R,N}\|_{-(1+D),2D}\right] \leq & C_{T}\mathbb{E}\left[\|\eta_{0}^{R,N}\|_{-(1+D),2D}\right] + \int_{0}^{t}\frac{C_{T}}{\sqrt{t-s}}\mathbb{E}\left[\|\eta_{s}^{R,N}\|_{-(1+D),2D}\right]ds \\ & + \int_{0}^{t}C_{T}\mathbb{E}\left[\|\eta_{s}^{I,N}\|_{-(1+D),2D}\right]ds + C_{T}. \end{split}$$

Now combining all the above inequalities and let

$$\varphi(t) = \mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{s \le t} \left(\left\| \eta_t^{S,N} \right\|_{-(1+D),2D} + \left\| \eta_t^{I,N} \right\|_{-(1+D),2D} + \left\| \eta_t^{R,N} \right\|_{-(1+D),2D} \right) \right],$$

we obtain the following estimate

$$\varphi(t) \leq C_T \varphi(0) + C_T \int_0^t \left(1 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{t-s}}\right) \varphi(s) ds + C_T.$$
(3.35)

Iterating (3.35) we deduce that

$$\varphi(t) \leq \left(C_T \varphi(0) + C_T\right) + \left(C_T \varphi(0) + C_T\right) C_T \int_0^t \left(1 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{t-s}}\right) ds + C_T^2 \int_0^t \int_0^s \left(1 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{t-s}}\right) \left(1 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{s-r}}\right) \varphi(r) dr ds \leq \left(C_T \varphi(0) + C_T\right) \left(1 + C_T \left(T + 2\sqrt{T}\right)\right) + C_T^2 \int_0^s \varphi(r) \int_0^t \left(1 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{t-s}}\right) \left(1 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{s-r}}\right) ds dr,$$
(3.36)

where we interchanged the order in the integral in the second line.

Now for r < s < t, we have

$$\int_{r}^{t} \left(1 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{t-s}}\right) \left(1 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{s-r}}\right) ds = \int_{r}^{t} \left(1 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{t-s}} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{s-r}} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{t-s}\sqrt{s-r}}\right) ds$$
$$\leq T + 2\sqrt{T} + \int_{r}^{t} \frac{ds}{\sqrt{t-s}\sqrt{s-r}}.$$
(3.37)

By the change of variables u = s - r, v = t - r we have

$$\int_{r}^{t} \frac{ds}{\sqrt{t-s}\sqrt{s-r}} = \int_{0}^{v} \frac{du}{\sqrt{u}\sqrt{v-u}}$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{v/2} \frac{du}{\sqrt{u}\sqrt{v-u}} + \int_{v/2}^{v} \frac{du}{\sqrt{u}\sqrt{v-u}}$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{\sqrt{v/2}} \int_{0}^{v/2} \frac{du}{\sqrt{u}} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{v/2}} \int_{v/2}^{v} \frac{du}{\sqrt{v-u}}$$

$$\leq 4.$$

$$(3.38)$$

Finally, we combine the inequalities (3.36), (3.37) and (3.38) to obtain an estimate in type of Gronwall's lemma, and using Remark 3.10 for the boundedness at the initial time, we complete the proof of Proposition 3.9.

4. CHARACTERIZATION OF THE LIMIT

The aim of this section is to prove convergence of the sequence of fluctuation processes $(\eta^N)_{N\geq 1}$, where the limit fluctuation processes η is the unique solution of a system of SPDEs driven by four inputs: an initial condition and three noises created by the martingale terms $\tilde{M}_t^{S,N}, \tilde{M}_t^{I,N}, \tilde{M}_t^{R,N}$. In Section 4.1 and 4.2, we first identify all the terms appearing in the limiting equation. In the last section, we show that this SPDEs uniquely characterizes the limit law, and hence complete the proof of the convergence in law of $(\eta^N)_{N\geq 1}$ to η .

4.1. Convergence of $(\tilde{M}^{S,N}, \tilde{M}^{I,N}, \tilde{M}^{R,N})_{N \ge 1}$. Before stating the convergence result of the martingale terms, let us introduce the definition of Gaussian white noises.

Definition 4.1. A random distribution \mathcal{W} defined on a probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ is called a Gaussian white noise on \mathbb{R}^d if the mapping $\varphi \mapsto \langle \mathcal{W}, \varphi \rangle$ is linear and continuous from $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ into $L^2(\Omega)$, and for any $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, $\langle \mathcal{W}, \varphi \rangle$ is a generalized centered Gaussian process satisfying

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left\langle \mathcal{W},\varphi\right\rangle\left\langle \mathcal{W},\phi\right\rangle\right] = \left\langle \varphi,\phi\right\rangle_{L^2}, \quad \forall \,\varphi,\phi\in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d).$$

Here $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{L^2}$ denotes a scalar product on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Space-time white noise is a Gaussian white noise on $\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^d$.

Proposition 4.2. The sequence $(\tilde{M}^{S,N}, \tilde{M}^{I,N}, \tilde{M}^{R,N})_{N\geq 1}$ converges in law in $(\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}_+, H^{-(2+2D),D}))^3$ towards the Gaussian process $(\mathcal{M}^S, \mathcal{M}^I, \mathcal{M}^R) \in (C(\mathbb{R}_+, H^{-(2+2D),D}))^3$ given by: for all $\varphi, \psi, \phi \in H^{2+2D,D}$,

$$\langle \mathcal{M}_{t}^{S}, \varphi \rangle = \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \sqrt{f_{S}(r, x)} D_{x}\varphi(x)\sigma^{S}(x)\mathcal{W}_{1}(dr, dx) - \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \sqrt{f_{S}(r, x)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} f_{I}(r, y)K(x, y)dy\varphi(x)\mathcal{W}_{2}(dr, dx),$$
(4.1)
$$\langle \mathcal{M}_{t}^{I}, \psi \rangle = \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \sqrt{f_{I}(r, x)} D_{x}\psi(x)\sigma^{I}(x)\mathcal{W}_{1}(dr, dx) + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \sqrt{f_{S}(r, x)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} f_{I}(r, y)K(x, y)dy\psi(x)\mathcal{W}_{2}(dr, dx) - \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \psi(x)\sqrt{\gamma f_{I}(r, x)}\mathcal{W}_{3}(dr, dx),$$
(4.2)
$$\langle \mathcal{M}_{t}^{R}, \phi \rangle = \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \sqrt{f_{R}(r, x)} D_{x}\phi(x)\sigma^{R}(x)\mathcal{W}_{1}(dr, dx) + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \phi(x)\sqrt{\gamma f_{I}(r, x)}\mathcal{W}_{3}(dr, dx),$$
(4.3)

where W_1, W_2, W_3 are independent standard space-time white noises.

Proof. We have proved that the sequence $\left(\tilde{M}^{S,N}, \tilde{M}^{S,N}, \tilde{M}^{S,N}\right)_{N\geq 1}$ is tight in $\left(\mathcal{D}\left(\mathbb{R}_{+}, H^{-(2+2D),D}\right)\right)^{3}$, and hence according to Prokhorov's Theorem, there exists a subsequence (still denoted by $\left(\tilde{M}^{S,N}, \tilde{M}^{S,N}, \tilde{M}^{S,N}\right)_{N\geq 1}$), which converges in law in $\left(\mathcal{D}\left(\mathbb{R}_{+}, H^{-(2+2D),D}\right)\right)^{3}$ towards $\left(\mathcal{M}^{S}, \mathcal{M}^{I}, \mathcal{M}^{R}\right)$. For all $\phi_{1}, \phi_{2}, \phi_{3} \in H^{2+2D,D}$, by Lemma 5.1, we know that $\mathcal{M}^{S}(\phi_{1}), \mathcal{M}^{I}(\phi_{2}), \mathcal{M}^{R}(\phi_{3})$ are continuous martingales and thus for any $a_{1}, a_{2}, a_{3} \in \mathbb{R}, a_{1}\mathcal{M}^{S}(\phi_{1}) + a_{2}\mathcal{M}^{I}(\phi_{2}) + a_{3}\mathcal{M}^{R}(\phi_{3})$ is also a continuous martingale. Now, we will show that the centered, continuous martingale $\left(\mathcal{M}^{S}(\phi_{1}), \mathcal{M}^{I}(\phi_{2}), \mathcal{M}^{R}(\phi_{3})\right)$ is a Gaussian process and satisfies (4.1)-(4.3).

Indeed, let us identify the limit. The LLN result implies that $(\mu^{S,N}, \mu^{I,N}, \mu^{R,N})$ converges in $(\mathcal{D}([0,T], \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^d)))^3$ towards (μ^S, μ^I, μ^R) , which is the unique solution of the limit system of (3.3)-(3.5), and we have

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \mathcal{M}^{S}(\phi) \right\rangle_{t} &= \int_{0}^{t} \left\langle \mu_{s}^{S}, \left(D_{x}\phi\sigma^{S} \right)^{2} \right\rangle ds + \int_{0}^{t} \left\langle \mu_{s}^{S}, \phi^{2}K_{\mu_{s}^{I}} \right\rangle ds, \\ \left\langle \mathcal{M}^{I}(\phi) \right\rangle_{t} &= \int_{0}^{t} \left\langle \mu_{s}^{I}, \left(D_{x}\phi\sigma^{I} \right)^{2} \right\rangle ds + \int_{0}^{t} \left\langle \mu_{s}^{S}, \phi^{2}K_{\mu_{s}^{I}} \right\rangle ds + \int_{0}^{t} \left\langle \mu_{s}^{I}, \gamma\phi^{2} \right\rangle ds, \\ \left\langle \mathcal{M}^{R}(\phi) \right\rangle_{t} &= \int_{0}^{t} \left\langle \mu_{s}^{R}, \left(D_{x}\phi\sigma^{R} \right)^{2} \right\rangle ds + \int_{0}^{t} \left\langle \mu_{s}^{I}, \gamma\phi^{2} \right\rangle ds. \end{split}$$

It turns out that $\langle a_1 \mathcal{M}^S(\phi_1) + a_2 \mathcal{M}^I(\phi_2) + a_3 \mathcal{M}^R(\phi_3) \rangle_t$ is a continuous martingale with a deterministic quadratic variation, so it is characterized as a Gaussian process determined by (4.1)-(4.3), where the densities are given by Lemma 5.2.

4.2. Convergence of $(\eta^{S,N}, \eta^{I,N}, \eta^{R,N})_{N\geq 1}$. We now prove the convergence of $(\eta^{S,N}, \eta^{I,N}, \eta^{R,N})_{N\geq 1}$ and give a characterization of the limit processes as solution of an equation in $H^{-(4+2D),D}$. We consider the Hilbert semimartingale decomposition (3.21)-(3.23) of $(\eta^{S,N}, \eta^{I,N}, \eta^{R,N})$, and we will find a semimartingale decomposition for the limit values, denoted by $(\eta^{S}, \eta^{I}, \eta^{R})$. The difficulty is to close this limit decomposition, i.e. to find a good space in which to immerse the limit process and which allows to give a sense to the limit drift terms. We have seen that the processes $\eta^{S,N}, \eta^{I,N}, \eta^{R,N}$ belong uniformly to $H^{-(1+D),2D}$ and are tight in $H^{-(2+2D),D}$. We also know that the limit processes $\eta^{S}, \eta^{I}, \eta^{R}$ are in $H^{-(2+2D),D}$. But to identify the limit in the drift terms, we need to work in a large space that is $H^{-(4+2D),D}$. And this will be possible if we assume more regularity on the coefficients σ and b.

We now introduce the following limit operators L_s^S, L_s^I, L_s^R of the linear operators $L^{S,N}$, $L^{I,N}, L^{R,N}$, defined by

$$L_{s}^{S}(\phi) = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left[(\sigma^{S} \sigma^{S^{\dagger}}) D_{xx}^{2} \phi \right] + D_{x} \phi \cdot V_{\mu_{s}}^{S} - \phi K_{\mu_{s}^{I}}, \qquad (4.4)$$

$$L_s^I(\phi) = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left[(\sigma^I \sigma^{I^{\dagger}}) D_{xx}^2 \phi \right] + D_x \phi \cdot V_{\mu_s}^I + \langle \mu_s^S, \phi K \rangle - \gamma \phi, \qquad (4.5)$$

$$L_s^R(\phi) = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left[(\sigma^R \sigma^{R^{\dagger}}) D_{xx}^2 \phi \right] + D_x \phi \cdot V_{\mu_s}^R.$$
(4.6)

Under the Assumption **H3**, and follows the lines in the proof of Proposition 3.7, we can also prove the following lemma.

Lemma 4.3. For $e \in \{S, I, R\}$, for every N and any $t \leq T$, the operators $L_s^e, L_s^{e,N} : H^{4+2D,D} \to H^{2+2D,D}$ are linear, continuous and satisfies

$$\left\|L_{t}^{e,N}(\phi)\right\|_{2+2D,D} \le C_{T} \left\|\phi\right\|_{4+2D,D},$$
(4.7)

$$\|L_t^e(\phi)\|_{2+2D,D} \le C_T \|\phi\|_{4+2D,D}.$$
 (4.8)

where the constant C_T does not depend on N and the randomness.

Now, by the trivial embedding $H^{-(2+2D),D} \hookrightarrow H^{-(4+2D),D}$, the sequence $(\eta^{S,N}, \eta^{I,N}, \eta^{R,N})_{N\geq 1}$ also converges to (η^S, η^I, η^R) in $(C([0,T], H^{-(4+2D),D}))^3$ and we have the following Theorem.

Theorem 4.4. Under Assumptions **H1**, **H3**, the sequence of processes $(\eta^{S,N}, \eta^{I,N}, \eta^{R,N})_{N\geq 1}$ converges in law in $(\mathcal{D}([0,T], H^{-(2+2D),D}))^3$ to a process (η^S, η^I, η^R) which is the solution in $H^{-(2+2D),D}$ of the following equation

$$\eta_t^S - \eta_0^S - \int_0^t L_s^{S^*} \eta_s^S ds + \int_0^t \operatorname{div} \left(\mu_s^S V_{\eta_s^S + \eta_s^I + \eta_s^R}^S \right) ds + \int_0^t \mu_s^S K_{\eta_s^I} ds = \mathcal{M}_t^S, \tag{4.9}$$

$$\eta_t^I - \eta_0^I - \int_0^t L_s^{I^*} \eta_s^I ds + \int_0^t \operatorname{div} \left(\mu_s^I V_{\eta_s^S + \eta_s^I + \eta_s^R}^I \right) ds - \int_0^t \mu_s^S K_{\mu_s^I} ds = \mathcal{M}_t^I,$$
(4.10)

$$\eta_t^R - \eta_0^R - \int_0^t L_s^{R^*} \eta_s^R ds + \int_0^t \operatorname{div} \left(\mu_s^R V_{\eta_s^S + \eta_s^I + \eta_s^R}^R \right) ds - \gamma \int_0^t \mu_s^S K_{\eta_s^I} ds = \mathcal{M}_t^R,$$
(4.11)

where $\mathcal{M}_t^S, \mathcal{M}_t^I, \mathcal{M}_t^R$ are the Gaussian processes defined in Proposition 4.2.

Proof. Since the sequence of the martingale terms $(\tilde{M}^{S,N}, \tilde{M}^{S,N}, \tilde{M}^{S,N})_{N\geq 1}$ converges in law in $(\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}_+, H^{-(2+2D),D}))^3$ to the Gaussian vector process $(\mathcal{M}^S, \mathcal{M}^I, \mathcal{M}^R)$ defined in Theorem 4.2, thus to prove that the limit processes satisfies the system (4.9)-(4.11), it suffices to show that

$$\begin{split} &\eta_t^{S,N} - \eta_0^{S,N} - \int_0^t L_s^{S,N*} \eta_s^{S,N} ds + \int_0^t \operatorname{div} \left(\mu_s^S V_{\eta_s^N}^S \right) ds + \int_0^t \mu_s^S K_{\eta_s^{I,N}} ds, \\ &\eta_t^{I,N} - \eta_0^{I,N} - \int_0^t L_s^{I,N*} \eta_s^{I,N} ds + \int_0^t \operatorname{div} \left(\mu_s^I V_{\eta_s^N}^I \right) ds - \int_0^t \mu_s^{S,N} K_{\mu_s^{I,N}} ds, \\ &\eta_t^{R,N} - \eta_0^{R,N} - \int_0^t L_s^{R,N*} \eta_s^{R,N} ds + \int_0^t \operatorname{div} \left(\mu_s^R V_{\eta_s^N}^R \right) ds - \gamma \int_0^t \mu_s^S K_{\eta_s^{I,N}} ds, \end{split}$$

converges in law to

$$\begin{split} \eta_t^S &- \eta_0^S - \int_0^t L_s^{S^*} \eta_s^S ds + \int_0^t \operatorname{div} \left(\mu_s^S V_{\eta_s^S + \eta_s^I + \eta_s^R}^N \right) ds + \int_0^t \mu_s^S K_{\eta_s^I} ds, \\ \eta_t^I &- \eta_0^I - \int_0^t L_s^{I^*} \eta_s^I ds + \int_0^t \operatorname{div} \left(\mu_s^I V_{\eta_s^S + \eta_s^I + \eta_s^R}^I \right) ds - \int_0^t \mu_s^S K_{\mu_s^I} ds, \\ \eta_t^R &- \eta_0^R - \int_0^t L_s^{R^*} \eta_s^R ds + \int_0^t \operatorname{div} \left(\mu_s^R V_{\eta_s^S + \eta_s^I + \eta_s^R}^R \right) ds - \gamma \int_0^t \mu_s^S K_{\eta_s^I} ds, \end{split}$$

when N tends to ∞ . By Lemma 4.3, the integrals $\int_0^t L_s^{S^*} \eta_s^S ds$, $\int_0^t L_s^{I^*} \eta_s^I ds$, $\int_0^t L_s^{R^*} \eta_s^R ds$ and the remaining drift terms make sense in $H^{-(4+2D),D}$. Now, for any $\phi \in H^{-(4+2D),D}$, let us introduce linear vector function $F^{\phi} = (F^{S,\phi}, F^{I,\phi}, F^{R,\phi})$ from $(\mathcal{D}([0,T], H^{-(2+2D),D}))^3$ into

 \mathbb{R}^3 defined by

$$\begin{split} F_t^{S,\phi}(u) = &\langle u_t, \phi \rangle - \langle u_0, \phi \rangle - \int_0^t \langle u_s, L_s^S(\phi) \rangle ds \\ &- \int_0^t \langle (u_s + v_s + w_s), \langle \mu_s^S, D_x \phi \cdot V^S \rangle \rangle ds + \int_0^t \langle v_s, \langle \mu_s^S, \phi K \rangle \rangle ds, \\ F_t^{I,\phi}(v) = &\langle v_t, \phi \rangle - \langle v_0, \phi \rangle - \int_0^t \langle v_s, L_s^I(\phi) \rangle ds \\ &- \int_0^t \langle (u_s + v_s + w_s), \langle \mu_s^I, D_x \phi \cdot V^I \rangle \rangle ds - \int_0^t \langle u_s, \phi K_{\mu_s^I} \rangle ds, \\ F_t^{R,\phi}(w) = &\langle w_t, \phi \rangle - \langle w_0, \phi \rangle - \int_0^t \langle w_s, L_s^R(\phi) \rangle ds \\ &- \int_0^t \langle (u_s + v_s + w_s), \langle \mu_s^R, D_x \phi \cdot V^R \rangle \rangle ds - \gamma \int_0^t \langle v_s, \phi \rangle ds. \end{split}$$

The function F^{ϕ} is continuous and thus, the sequence $(F^{\phi}(\eta^{S,N},\eta^{I,N},\eta^{R,N}))_{N\geq 1}$ converges in law to $(F^{\phi}(\eta^{S},\eta^{I},\eta^{R}))$ since the sequence $(\eta^{S,N},\eta^{I,N},\eta^{R,N})_{N\geq 1}$ converges in law to $(\eta^{S},\eta^{I},\eta^{R})$ by the tightness result 3.12.

Now it remains to show that $\int_0^t \langle \eta_s^{S,N}, L_s^{S,N}(\phi) - L_s^S(\phi) \rangle ds$ (and the analogues for $\eta_s^{I,N}, \eta_s^{R,N}$) tends to 0 when N tends to ∞ . We will prove that it tends to 0 in L^1 . Indeed, by Cauchy-Schwartz's inequality, we deduce that

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}\bigg[\int_{0}^{t} \left| \left\langle \eta_{s}^{S,N}, L_{s}^{S,N}(\phi) - L_{s}^{S}(\phi) \right\rangle \right| ds \bigg] \\ & \leq \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{0}^{t} \left\| \eta_{s}^{S,N} \right\|_{-(2+2D,D)^{2}} \left\| L_{s}^{S,N}(\phi) - L_{s}^{S}(\phi) \right\|_{2+2D,D}^{2} ds \right] \\ & \leq \int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\left\| \eta_{s}^{S,N} \right\|_{-(2+2D,D)}^{2} \right]^{1/2} \mathbb{E}\left[\left\| L_{s}^{S,N}(\phi) - L_{s}^{S}(\phi) \right\|_{2+2D,D}^{2} \right]^{1/2} ds \\ & \leq C \int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\left\| L_{s}^{S,N}(\phi) - L_{s}^{S}(\phi) \right\|_{2+2D,D}^{2} \right]^{1/2} ds, \end{split}$$

where we used Proposition 3.9 and Remark 3.10 to obtain the last inequality.

Following the lines in the proof of Proposition 3.7 and the LLN result $\mu^{e,N} \to \mu^e$, $e \in \{S, I, R\}$, we can also prove that $\|L_s^{S,N}(\phi) - L_s^S(\phi)\|_{2+2D,D}$ tends to 0 as N tends to ∞ , and thus complete the proof.

Noticing that to compute $||L_s^{S,N}(\phi) - L_s^S(\phi)||_{2+2D,D}$, we used the additional assumption on σ, V, K , and once we compute for the term $\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left[(\sigma^e \sigma^{e\dagger}) D_{xx}^2 \phi \right]$ in $L_s^{S,N}(\phi), L_s^S(\phi)$, it will produce the regularity order 4 + 2D instead of 2 + 2D as in (3.18). Thus, the equations (4.9)-(4.11) are regarded as the equations in the space $H^{-(4+2D),D}$, while η^S, η^I, η^R are known to take values in the smaller space $H^{-(2+2D),D}$.

In order to complete the proof of convergence of the sequence $(\eta^{S,N}, \eta^{I,N}, \eta^{R,N})_{N\geq 1}$, it remains to prove uniqueness of the solution to the system (4.9)-(4.11).

Proposition 4.5. For any initial condition η_0^S , η_0^I , η_0^R with values in $H^{-(2+2D),D}$, the system (4.9)-(4.11) has at most one solution with paths in $(\mathcal{D}([0,T], H^{-(2+2D),D}))^3$.

Since the equations (4.9)-(4.11) are linear, it follows directly from the classical theory of linear stochastic PDEs that system (4.9)-(4.11) has at most one solution.

5. Appendix

Lemma 5.1. The limit process $(\mathcal{M}^S, \mathcal{M}^I, \mathcal{M}^R)$ of the sequence $(\tilde{M}^{S,N}, \tilde{M}^{S,N}, \tilde{M}^{S,N})_{N \ge 1}$ belong a.s. to $(C(\mathbb{R}_+, H^{-(2+2D),D}))^3$.

Lemma 5.2. There exists $(f^S, f^I, f^R) \in L^{\infty}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+, (L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)^3))$ as the densities of (μ^S, μ^I, μ^R) such that

$$\begin{split} f_t^S(x) =& f_0^S(x) + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t \operatorname{tr} \left[(\sigma^S \sigma^{S^{\dagger}}) D_{xx}^2 f_s^S(x) \right] ds \\ &+ \int_0^t \operatorname{div} \left(f_s^S(x) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} V^S(x,y) (f_s^S(y) + f_s^I(y) + f_s^R(y)) dy \right) ds \\ &- \int_0^t f_s^S(x) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} K(x,y) f_s^I(y) dy ds, \\ f_t^I(x) =& f_0^I(x) + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t \operatorname{tr} \left[(\sigma^I \sigma^{I^{\dagger}}) D_{xx}^2 f_s^I(x) \right] ds \\ &+ \int_0^t \operatorname{div} \left(f_s^I(x) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} V^I(x,y) (f_s^S(y) + f_s^I(y) + f_s^R(y)) dy \right) ds \\ &+ \int_0^t f_s^S(x) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} K(x,y) f_s^I(y) dy ds - \gamma \int_0^t f_s^I ds, \\ f_t^R(x) =& f_0^R(x) + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t \operatorname{tr} \left[(\sigma^R \sigma^{R^{\dagger}}) D_{xx}^2 f_s^R(x) \right] ds \\ &+ \int_0^t \operatorname{div} \left(f_s^R(x) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} V^R(x,y) (f_s^S(y) + f_s^I(y) + f_s^R(y)) dy \right) ds \\ &+ \int_0^t \operatorname{div} \left(f_s^R(x) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} V^R(x,y) (f_s^S(y) + f_s^I(y) + f_s^R(y)) dy \right) ds \\ &+ \gamma \int_0^t f_s^I ds. \end{split}$$

References

- R. A. Adams, J. J. F. Fournier. Sobolev spaces. Volume 140 of Pure and Applied Mathematics. Elsevier, Amsterdam, second edition, 2003. MR-2424078
- [2] D. Aldous. Stopping times and tightness. The Annals of Probability 6(2), 335-340, 1978.
- [3] V. Bally, D. Goreac, V. Rabiet. Regularity and Stability for the Semigroup of Jump Diffusions with State-Dependent Intensity. Annals of Applied Probability, Institute of Mathematical Statistics (IMS) 28 (5), 2018.
- [4] P. Billingsley. Convergence of probability measures. Wiley Series in Probability and Statistics: Probability and Statistics. John Wiley, New York, second edition, 1999.
- [5] S. Bowong, A. Emakoua, E. Pardoux. A spatial stochastic epidemic model: law of large numbers and central limit theorem. *Stochastics and Partial Differential Equations: Analysis and Computations*, Springer, 2022.
- [6] F. Brauer, P. van den Driessche, J. Wu. Mathematical epidemiology, Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2008.
- [7] T. Britton, E. Pardoux. Stochastic epidemic in a homogeneous community, Part I of stochastic epidemic models with inference, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 2225, pp. 1-120 Springer, 2019.
- [8] R. Carmona, F. Delarue. Probabilistic theory of mean field games with applications I: Mean Field FBSDEs, Control, and Games, Springer, 2017.

- [9] J. Chevallier. Fluctuations for mean-field interacting age-dependent Hawkes processes. *Electronic Journal of Probability*, Institute of Mathematical Statistics (IMS), 22 (42), 2017.
- [10] M. Coghi, F. Flandoli. Propagation of chaos for interacting particles subject to environmental noise. The Annals of Applied Probability, Vol. 26, No. 3, 1407–1442, 2016.
- [11] F. Delarue, D. Lacker, K. Ramanan. From the master equation to mean field game limit theory: a central limit theorem. *Electronic Journal of Probability*, 24(51), 2019.
- [12] A. Emakoua. A SIR Stochastic Epidemic Model in Continuous Space: Law of Large Numbers and Central Limit Theorem, preprint, 2022.
- [13] X. Erny, E. Löcherbach, D. Loukianova. Conditional propagation of chaos for mean field systems of interacting neurons. *Electronic Journal of Probability*, 26 1 - 25, 2021.
- [14] R. Ferland, X. Fernique, and G. Giroux. Compactness of the fluctuations associated with some generalized nonlinear boltzmann equations. *Canadian journal of mathematics*, 44(6):11921205, 1992. MR-1192413
- [15] B. Fernandez, S. Méléard. A Hilbertian approach for fluctuations on the McKean-Vlasov model. Stochastic Processes and their Applications, 71(1):33–53, 1997. MR-1480638
- [16] N. Fournier, A. Guillin. On the rate of convergence in Wasserstein distance of the empirical measure. Probability Theory Related Fields, 162, 707–738, 2015.
- [17] H. Hamedani, B. Zangeneh. Stopped Doob inequality for p-th moment (0 integrals. Stochastic Analysis and Applications 19(5), 771-798, 2001.
- [18] M. Hauray, E. Pardoux, Y. V. Vuong. Conditional propagation of chaos in a spatial stochastic epidemic model with common noise. *Stochastics and Partial Differential Equations: Analysis and Computations*, Springer, 2022.
- [19] M. Hauray, Y. V. Vuong. Some estimates on the regularity of diffusion semigroups in weighted Sobolev norms, preprint, 2022.
- [20] M. Hitsuda, I. Mitoma. Tightness problem and stochastic evolution equation arising from fluctuation phenomena for interacting diffusions. *Journal of Multivariate Analysis*, 19(2):311–328, 1986.
- [21] N. Ikeda, S. Watanabe. Stochastic Differential Equations and Diffusion Processes, Second Edition. North-Holland Mathematical Library 24, Amsterdam, 1989.
- [22] A. Joffe, M. Métivier. Weak convergence of sequences of semimartingales with applications to multitype branching processes. Advances in Applied Probability, pages 20–65, 1986. MR0827331
- [23] B. Jourdain, S. Méléard. Propagation of chaos and fluctuations for a moderate model with smooth initial data. In Annales de l'IHP Probabilités et statistiques, volume 34, pages 727–766, 1998. MR-1653393
- [24] B. Jourdain, A. Tse. Central limit theorem over non-linear functionals of empirical measures with applications to the mean-field fluctuation of interacting diffusions. *Electronic Journal of Probability*, 26 1 - 34, 2021.
- [25] P. Kotelenez. A stopped Doob inequality for stochastic convolution integrals and stochastic evolution equations, *Stochastic analysis and applications*, 2(3), 245-265, 1984.
- [26] T. Kurtz, J. Xiong. A stochastic evolution equation arising from the fluctuations of a class of interacting particle systems. *Communications in Mathematical Sciences* 2, no. 3, 325–358, 2004.
- [27] T. Kurtz, J. Xiong. Particle representations for a class of nonlinear SPDEs. Stochastic Processes and their Applications 83, 103–126, 1999.
- [28] C. Leonard. Some epidemic systems are long range interacting particle systems, in *Stochastic Processes in Epidemic Theory*, J.P. Gabriel et al., eds., Springer Verlag, 1990.
- [29] S. Méléard. Asymptotic behaviour of some interacting particle systems; McKean-Vlasov and Boltzmann models. In Probabilistic models for nonlinear partial differential equations (Montecatini Terme, 1995), volume 1627 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 42–95. Springer, Berlin, 1996.
- [30] S. Méléard. Convergence of the fluctuations for interacting diffusions with jumps associated with boltzmann equations. *Stochastics*, 63(3-4):195–225, 1998. MR-1658082
- [31] M. Métivier. Convergence faible et principe d'invariance pour des martingales à valeurs dans des espaces de Sobolev. Annales de l'IHP, 20(4) :329-348, 1984.
- [32] A. Pazy. Semigroups of linear operators and applications to partial diff erential equations, volume 44 of Applied Mathematical Sciences. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1983.
- [33] R. Rebolledo. Central limit theorems for local martingales. Z. Wahrsch. Verw. Gebiete, 51(3):269–286, 1980.
- [34] S. Riley, K. Eames, V. Isham, D. Mollison, P. Trapman. Five challenges for spatial epidemic models. *Epidemics*, Volume 10, 2015.

- [35] S. Roelly-Coppoletta. A criterion of convergence of measure-valued processes: application to measure branching processes. *Stochastics*, 17:43-65, 1985.
- [36] E. Salavati, B. Zangeneh. A maximal inequality for pth power of stochastic convolution integrals. *Journal of Inequalities and Applications*, Springer, 155, 2016.
- [37] J. Sirignano, K. Spiliopoulos. Mean field analysis of neural networks: A central limit theorem. Stochastic Processes and their Applications, 2020.
- [38] A.-S. Sznitman. Topics in propagation of chaos. École d'Été de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XIX—1989, volume 1464 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 165–251. Springer, Berlin, 1991.
- [39] H. Tanaka, M. Hitsuda. Central limit theorem for a simple di ff usion model of interacting particles. *Hiroshima Mathematical Journal* 11, no. 2, 415–423, 1981.
- [40] J. Walsh. An Introduction to Stochastic Partial Differential Equations. École d'été de Probabilités de Saint-Flour, XIV—1984, Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 1180, Springer, Berlin, pp. 265–439, 1986.